Microplastics and cadmium contamination effects on plant physiology and soil biodiversity



By Attia Rubab Khalid 00000329911

Master of Science in Plant Biotechnology Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Islamabad, Pakistan 2022

Microplastics and cadmium contamination effects on plant physiology and soil biodiversity



By Attia Rubab Khalid 00000329911

Supervisor Dr. Ghulam Haider

Master of Science in Plant Biotechnology Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Islamabad, Pakistan 2022

Microplastics and cadmium contamination effects on plant physiology and soil biodiversity

By Attia Rubab Khalid 00000329911

Thesis submitted to the National University of Sciences and Technology Islamabad in partial fulfilment of the partial requirement for degree of Master of Science in

Plant Biotechnology

Supervisor: Dr. Ghulam Haider

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Islamabad, Pakistan 2022

National University of Sciences & Technology MS THESIS WORK

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by:

 Student Name: Attia Rubab Khalid
 Registration Number: 00000329911

 Titled: "Microplastics and cadmium contamination effects on plant physiology and soil

 biodiversity" be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of MS Degree

 in Plant Biotechnology degree with _____ grade

Examination Committee Members

1. Name: Dr. Muhammad Faraz Bhatti

Signature:

Signature:

FORM TH-4

Signature:

Signature: Assistant Plant Biotechnology Atta-ur-Rahnger-School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), NUST Islamabad

Date: 22-07-2022

Pt: Mobabrimad Faraz Bhatti Head of Department (HoD) Bept of Plant Biotechnology Atta-ur-Ruhman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), NUST Islamabad

Head of Department

COUNTERSINGED

Dean/Principal

Hussnain A. Janjua Principal Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Binsciences (ASAB) NUST, Islamabad

Date: 22-07-2022

2. Name: Dr. Fazal Adnan

Co-Supervisor's Name: Dr. Rabia Amir

Supervisor's Name: Dr. Ghulam Haider

Date: 22-07-2022

Thesis Acceptance Certificate

It is certified that final copy of MS thesis written by Attia Rubab Khalid (Registration no.000000329911), of Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB) has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statutes/Regulations/MS policy, is free of plagiarism, errors and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for the award of MS degree.

Ghulam Haider

Deptt of Plant Biotechnology Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied

heptt of Plant Biotechnology Atta-ur-trainman School of Applied Biosciances (ASAB), NUST Islamabad

Biosciences (ASAB), NUST Islamabad

Assistant Professor

Supervisor:-

Dr. Ghulam Haider Associate Professor

Atta-ur-Rahman_School of Applied Biosciences,

National University of Sciences & Technology, Islamabad Muhammad Earaz Bhat

Head of Department:

Dr. Muhammad Faraz Bhatti

Professor

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences,

National University of Sciences & Technology, Islamabad

Principal: _

Dr. Hussain A. Janjua

Professor and Principal

Hussnain A. Janjua Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB) NUST, Islamabad

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences,

National University of Sciences & Technology, Islamabad

PLAGIARISM CERTIFICATE (TURNITIN REPORT)

It is certified that MS Thesis titled Microplastics and cadmium contamination effects on plant physiology and soil biodiversity by student Attia Rubab Khalid, Registration Number 000000329911 has been examined by me. I undertake that:

- a. This thesis has significant new work/ knowledge as compared to already been published or are under consideration to be published elsewhere. No sentence, equation, diagram, table, paragraph or section has been copied verbatim from previous work unless it is placed under quotation marks and duly referenced.
- b. The work presented is original and own work of the author (i.e. there is no plagiarism). No ideas, processed, results or words of others have been presented as Author's own work.
- c. There is no fabrication of data or results which have been compiled/ analyzed
- d. There is no falsification by manipulating research materials, equipment or processes or changing or omitting data or results such that research is not accurately represented in the research record.
- e. The thesis has been checked using TURNITIN (Copy of originality report attached) and found within limits as per HEC plagiarism Policy and instructions issued from time to time.

Attia Rubab Khalid

Date: 5-Sep-2022

Supervisor: Dr. Ghulam Haider

Signature:

Dr. Ghulam Haider Assistant Professor Deptt of Plant Biotechnology Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), NUST Islamabad

DECLARATION

I certified that this research work titled "Microplastics and cadmium contamination effects on plant physiology and soil biodiversity" is my own work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The material that has been used from other sources has been properly acknowledged/ referred.

Attia Rubab Khalid

Registration # 000000329911

Dedication

I dedicate this work to my supportive family especially my mother who always believed in me and supported me in each step during the study period.

Acknowledgement

Firstly, I would like to thank Almighty Allah for everything in my life, for providing me with the knowledge, strength and the apprehension which guided me in the successful completion of my MS degree.

I would like to express deep gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Ghulam Haider, Co supervisor Dr. Rabia Amir and GEC members Dr. Muhammad Faraz Bhatti and Dr.Fazal Adnan whom guidance was there throughout my research. I am also thankful to Dr. Tariq Shah who helped me a lot.

I am profoundly grateful to my parents, siblings, friends for their constant support and guidance which helped me overcome all the challenges and this would not have been possible without them. I am also thankful to Principal ASAB, Dr. Hussnain Ahmed Janjua and Head of Department, Muhammad Faraz Bhatti for providing me the opportunity and possible research facilities to study in NUST.

Table of Contents

Plagiarism Certificate (Turnitin Report).....Error! Bookmark not defined.

Thesis Acceptance CertificateError! Bookmark r	not defined.
DeclarationError! Bookmark r	not defined.
Dedication	viii
Acknowledgement	viii
List of Figures	xiv
List of Tables	XX
Abstract	xxi
Graphical abstract of overall study	xxiiix
1.Introduction	1
1.1. Importance of wheat	1
1.2. Plastics and MPs	1
1.3. Sources of MPs	2
1.4. Effect of MPs on plants physiology	3
1.5. Effect of MPs on soil biodiversity	
1.6. Heavy metals effect on plants and soil biodiversity	4
1.7. Introduction to biochar	5
1.8. Objectives	6

2. Literature Review				
2.1. Source of MPs	8			
2.2. Source of MPs in soil	9			
2.2.1. Plastic Mulching as the source of MPs	9			
2.2.2. Wastewater and Sewage sludge as a source of MPs				
2.2.3. Organic fertilizer as a source of MPs	11			
2.2.4. Atmospheric source of MPs				
2.3. Effect of MPs in soil	14			
2.3.1. Impact of MPs on Biological properties of soil	14			
2.3.1.1. Microbial communities:	14			
2.3.1.2. Enzymatic activity				
2.3.1.3. MP effect on Plants				
2.3.2. Impact of on Physical properties of soil	22			
2.3.3. Impact of MPs on the soil Chemical properties	24			
2.4. Interaction of MP with Heavy metals				
2.5. Interaction of MP with Biochar	28			
3. Material and Method	29			
3.1. Soil, Biochar and MPs properties				
3.1.1. Soil Properties				
3.2.1. Biochar properties				
3.3.1. MPs properties				
3.2. Experimental Design:				
3.3. Dry Biomass				
3.4. Antioxidant activity:				
3.5. Measurement of soil enzyme activities				
3.5. Determination of microbial abundance				
3.6. Phospholipid Fatty Acid (PLFA) Analysis:				
3.7. Soil Organic Carbon and total nitrogen:				

3.9. Microbial Biomass Carbon and Microbial Biomass nitrogen:36
3.10. Cd concentration measurement in plant:
3.11. Statistical analysis:
4. Results
4.1. Experiment-1: Effect of PVC-MP on Plant and Soil in
Biochar Amended Soil
4.1.1. PVC-MPs and biochar effects on plant growth, dry matter production and antioxidant activity
4.1.2. PVC-MP and Biochar effect on soil organic carbon, total nitrogen, microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen
4.1.3. PVC-MP and biochar effect on Soil Enzyme Activity:
4.1.4. Biochar and PVC-MPs effect microbial communities, soil bacterial and fungal gene abundance:
4.2. Experiment:2 Effect of contaminants (PVC-MP + Cd) on plant and soil in biochar augmented soil
4.2.1: PVC-MP + Cd and biochar effect on the shoot and root dry
4.2.2 PVC MP + Cd and biocher offset on soil anyway
4.2.2. PVC-MP + Cd and biochar effect on MPC and MPN:
4.2.5. FVC-MF + Cd offset on the Microbial community 60
4.2.4. PVC-MP + Cd effect on root, shoot, plant, and soil Cd concentration
Discussion:78
5.1. Experiment no 1: Effect of PVC-MP on Plant and Soil in Biochar
5.1.1. DVC MDs and biosher affects on the wheat sheet and root dry biomass.
5.1.1. FVC-MFS and blochar effects on the wheat shoot and foot dry blomass
biomass carbon, and nitrogen
5.1.3. Effect of PVC-MPs and biochar on soil enzymes activity
5.1.4. Effect of PVC-MPs and biochar on microbial communities

5.2. Experiment no 2: Effect of contaminants (PVC-MP+Cd) on and soil in biochar augmented soil	plant
5.2.1. Biochar effect on the soil enzyme activity	
5.2.2. Biochar and Cd+PVC-MPs effect on microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and m biomass nitrogen (MBN)	nicrobial
5.2.3. Effects of PVC-MP+Cd and biochar on the microbial community	
5.2.4. Effects of biochar on plant and soil Cd concentration in a PVC-MP+Cd conta soil	minated

Conclusion			
Refrences			

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure1. Representation of PVC-MP, PVC-MP+Cd and biochar effect on the plant biomass and soil biodiversity......xxiii

Figure 4. Size of MPs determined under the SEM 31

 Figure 14. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on dehydrogenase.

Figure 21. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg , on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on shoot dry weight. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.

Figure 22. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg , on dry weight basis (w/w))and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on root dry weight. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.

Figure 23. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg , on dry weight basis (w/w))and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on urease. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.

Figure 25. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600 mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on β -glucosidase. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%....... 64

Figure 26. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600 mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on acid phosphatase. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.

Figure 27. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg , on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on MBN. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05% 67

Figure 29. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600 mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on G+ve. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.......70

Figure 32. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on Root Cd. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.......74

Figure 33. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0,

BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on shoot Cd. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.......75

Figure 35. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600 mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on soil Cd. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.......77

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Various sources of MPs in the soil
Table 2. MPs size, shape and types effect on the bacterial communities17
Table 3. MPs size, shape and types effect on the fungal communities
Table 4. MPs size, shape and types of effect on the soil enzymatic activity 19
Table 5. MPs type and size and their effect on plant physiology
Table 6. MPs size, shape and type and their effect on plant physical properties
Table 7. Elemental composition, chemical characterization, and nutrients
content of biochar

ABSTRACT

Microplastics (MPs) are tiny plastic particles less than 5 mm in size. The MPs enter the environment due to the breakdown of larger plastic materials. MPs pollution has become the most emerging environmental issue and is almost everywhere in the world. The MPs are divided into two major groups. The primary and secondary MPs. Primary MPs are manufactured in micro sizes, while the breakdown of larger plastic materials forms secondary MPs. Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) is one of the agricultural soil's most abundant and toxic MPs. Agricultural soils are also facing the challenges of heavy metals (loids). For instance, Cadmium (Cd), a heavy metal, is one of the most dangerous pollutants in agricultural soils. Cd is a non-essential, more mobile, and bioavailable heavy metal and thus can be a potential threat to plant growth and soil biota. Biochar (a stable carbon obtained by the pyrolysis of organic wastes under anaerobic conditions) has been investigated and recommended to reduce soil contaminants' bioavailability. In the present study, we investigated the interaction of PVC-MPs (0%, 0.25%, and 0.5%, (w/w)), Cd (600mg/kg), and cotton stalk (Gossypium hirsutum L.) biochar (0%, and 0.5% (w/w)), in two controlled experiments, on plant growth, physiology, antioxidants defense, soil microbial community and abundance using 16S rRNA, 18S rRNA and PLFA biomarkers. Results revealed that the PVC-MPs at the low dose of 0.25% increased the dry shoot mass with no significant effect on the dry root mass. There was no significant effect on plant antioxidant activity. However, MP's addition reduced soil urease, dehydrogenase activity, soil organic and microbial biomass carbon, and bacterial and fungal abundance. The Coapplication of biochar with PVC-MPs reduced the adverse effects of the MPs and increased

Urease and dehydrogenase activity, soil organic and microbial biomass carbon, and bacterial and fungal abundance. PVC-MP + Cd reduced the plant shoot biomass and did not significantly affect the root dry weight. On the other hand, PVC-MP + Cd reduced the soil enzyme activity and increased the Cd concentration in the plants' roots and shoot, whereas PVC-MP + Cd increased gram-positive bacteria, gram-negative bacteria, total PLFA (phospholipids fatty acids) biomarkers. Adding biochar alleviated the hazardous effects of PVC-MP + Cd contamination as indicated by increased soil enzyme activity and reduced Cd uptake in the shoot, root, plant, and soil. Applying biochar and PVC-MP + Cd causes a further increase in gram-positive bacteria, gram-negative bacteria, and total PLFA. To sum up, it is concluded that applying biochar to high-risk areas of MPs or heavy metals contamination can be a strategy to reduce the environmental impacts of emerging pollutants.

Keywords: Polyvinyl chloride; PLFA biomarker; Plastics; dehydrogenase; Urease

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT OF OVERALL STUDY



Figure1. Representation of PVC-MP, PVC-MP+Cd and biochar effect on the plant biomass and soil biodiversity

1.INTRODUCTION

1.1. Importance of wheat

Wheat *Triticum aestivum* plays an important role in the economy of the world as it is a major cereal crop and staple food (Hossain et al., 2021). It is an important part of the human diet, 40% of the calories come from wheat, and fulfills 35% of food demand for humans (Kumar & Krishna, 2015). Despite wheat can grow in various environments but optimum soil sites can improve the yield of wheat. It is estimated that a 60% increase is required by 2050 to feed the world population however the production of wheat is not satisfactory as there is only a 1.1% increase in the last decade (Hussain et al., 2022). Various abiotic factors such as MPs and Heavy metals can affect the production of wheat by inhibiting growth, reducing biomass, and changing nutrient assimilation (Wang et al., 2022).

1.2. Plastics and MPs

Plastics are the polymer with harmful chemicals that are derived from Non-renewable crude oil and these chemicals are released into the environment with the disposal of plastics (Lithner et al., 2011). More than 300 million tons of plastics have been produced globally in the last decade but the number of recycled plastics is less than half of the produced plastic and the remaining plastic are becoming part of the landfills, oceans and polluting the water bodies and terrestrial land (Rochman et al., 2013). Plastic in the municipal solid waste is estimated at 79 million tons and in the industrial solid it was estimated at 42 million tons in Asia (Liang et al., 2021). Plastics are divided into seven different knowns as resin codes, Polyethylene terephthalate PET, high-density polyethylene HDPE, polyvinyl

chloride PVC, Low-density polyethylene LDPE, polypropylene PP, polystyrene PS, and other resins are included (Boyle & Örmeci, 2020). Demand of plastics resins in 2019 was PP 19.4%, PE-LD 17.4%, PE-HD 12.4%, PVC 10%, polyurethane PUR 7.9%, PET 7.9%, PS 6.2% and other plastics 18.8% (Plastics Europe - Association of Plastic Manufacturers (Organization), 2020). These plastic resins are the vector for the other contaminant and additives that harm the organisms (Mato et al., 2001). Plastics can be broken down into macro plastics 25 mm to 5 cm (Ng et al., 2018) , mesoplastics 5–25 mm, MPs 100 nm and 500 μ m and nano plastics (NPs) >500 μ m (Ng et al., 2018). The size of small MPs is 0.2-2 nm and large micro plastics are 2-5 nm (Collignon et al., 2014). Two main problems are associated with the MPs, the extremely small size that is easily available to the biota and the vector for the other pollutant and microorganisms (Rillig, 2012b; Weithmann et al., 2018).

1.3. Sources of MPs

Primary and secondary MPs are a major part of the environment (Cole et al., 2011). Primary MPs are manufactured in microscopic size and are used in the air blasting media (Claessens et al., 2011), pellets, and cosmetics (Napper et al., 2015). The secondary source of the MPs is that plastic which is derived from plastics when they are a breakdown into smaller particles (Roy et al., 2011). The sunlight exposure and the UV light cause the photo degradation of plastics into smaller plastics, the smallest plastic that was detected in the ocean is 1.6 μ m in the size (Andrady, 2011). Biodegradable plastics are thought to be safe for the environment but can cause the MPs as these plastics decompose into the smaller particles that are released into the water bodies (Barnes et al., 2009; Thompson et al.,

Introduction

2004). The MPs are abundant in the sewage water due to the presence of the clothing fibers (Mason et al., 2016), these fibers contain the polyester and the acrylic compound have the same resemblance in composition with those of MPs that were found In the sediments (Browne et al., 2011). These MPs are retained in the form of sludge and used as fertilizer for agricultural land (Nizzetto et al., 2016).

1.4. Effect of MPs on plants physiology

MPs harm plant growth and plant morphological traits (Bosker et al., 2019; de Souza Machado et al., 2019; Qi et al., 2018a). Biodegradable MPs from the mulch have more negative effects than low-density polyethylene on the root, shoot and fruit biomass in the *Triticum aestivum* (Qi et al., 2018). Different sizes of the MPs cause reduction in the root length of the plants and MPs deposit in the pores of the seed coat can slow down the water uptake (Bosker et al., 2019; de Souza Machado et al., 2019). Plant release various antioxidant substances in response to MPs stress, malondialdehyde, and proline content increased in the *Cucumis sativus* cucumber when contaminate with the PS MPs (Li et al., 2020). 100 nm fluorescent PS MPs also increased the toxicity and oxidative damage than 5 mm PS-MPs (Jiang et al., 2019). MPs inhibit the formation of the chlorophyll in *Vicia faba*, the accumulation of MPs led to the blockage of the cell connection that affected the transport of minerals through the water (Jiang et al., 2019).

1.5. Effect of MPs on soil biodiversity

MPs also have a negative effect on the soil microbiota if they change the soil properties (de Souza Machado et al., 2018; Rillig et al., 2019; Wan et al., 2019). Studies reported that

Chapter 1

Introduction

MPs contaminated soil negatively affects the growth of microbes and decreases the soil microbiota (Huang et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020; Yi et al., 2021). Polyvinyl chloride (10%) shifted the microbial community from gram-positive bacteria to gram-negative bacteria (Zang et al., 2020), however lower concentration of PVC also harmed the bacterial community (Yan et al., 2021), and fungal species (Fan et al., 2022). MPs have a negative impact on soil enzyme activity (Awet et al., 2018; Dong et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2020). MP can reduce the soil organic carbon SOC microbial by inhibiting the growth of microbial community (Yu et al., 2020) and enhancing SOC mineral but due to the stability, it is not available to the microorganism (Rillig, 2018). The study reveals that MPs cause a significant reduction in microbial biomass carbon MBC and nitrogen MBN (Blöcker et al., 2020). These studies indicate that MPs are adversely affecting the soil microorganism, enzyme activity and nutrient cycles need immediate remediation (Zhang et al., 2021).

1.6. Heavy metals effect on plants and soil biodiversity

Heavy metals, sometimes describe as metalloids such as cadmium (Cd), Chromium (Cr), Mercury (Hg) Copper (Cu), Lead (Pb) Nickle (Ni), and Arsenic (As) are part of the soil however, presence of heavy metal in high concentration can alter the soil properties and cause damage the plants (Alengebawy et al., 2021). It became a serious threat to the environment because heavy metals are irreversible and persistent pollutants (Li et al., 2019). Soil is contaminated at five million sites that cover about 500 million ha of land globally with heavy metals exceeding the permissible limits (Liu et al., 2018). Primarily heavy metals can enter agricultural land through the natural process however, natural sources usually are of minor impact (Dixit et al., 2015). Other than natural processes heavy metals can enter through anthropogenic activities (Chen et al., 2015) such as mining, application of pesticides and fertilizers, smelting, and combustion of fossil fuels (Li et al., 2019).

High concentrations of heavy metals in soil damage the properties of soil and soil microorganisms. The presence of heavy metals can inhibit microbial growth, microbial diversity reduces soil nutrients and soil fertility (Terry & Banuelos, 2000). Furthermore, the reduction in microbial biodiversity can also affect plant growth and reduce organic matter decomposition which led to the reduction in soil nutrients (Chibuike, 2014). Heavy metals cause toxic effects on plants such as chlorosis, inhibit growth, reduce biomass, and change nutrient assimilation (Singh et al., 2016). A high concentration of liable heavy metal produces free radicles and reactive oxygen species that are followed by cellular damage (Shivaraj et al., 2020).

1.7. Introduction to biochar

Different strategies are used to reduce the contaminants and the amendment of biochar is one of those strategies that help in the reduction of contaminants. Biochar that is produced under low temperature and limited oxygen can increase the soil organic carbon and contribute to soil carbon sequestration (Wang et al., 2015), provide habitat for the microbial communities (Cai et al., 2021; Ye et al., 2017) and increase the gram-positive bacteria (Zhang et al., 2018), gram-negative bacteria and fungi (Dominchin et al., 2021). Biochar enhances the enzyme activity in the soil (Song et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2015). Numerous studies reported that application of the biochar is useful in the removal of various contaminants (Diao et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2021).

1.8. Objectives

I. Investigation of PVC MP and Cadmium contamination effects on Wheat growth, and dry matter production

II. Investigation of PVC MP and Cadmium contamination effects on Soil microbes and enzymes activity

III. To evaluate, if co-application of biochar with PVC MP and Cadmium can reduce/enhance their effects on:

- 1. Plant growth, physiology, and biomass production
- 2. Microbes and soil enzymes activity

Chapter 2

Literature Review

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Plastics are the polymer with harmful chemicals that are derived from Non-renewable crude oil and these chemical are released into the environment with the disposal of plastics (Lithner et al., 2011). Due to the plastics low weight, these are also produced during carbon emission in transport (Miller, 2020). More than 300 million tons of plastics have been produced globally in the last decade but the number of recycled plastics is less than half of the produced plastic and the remaining plastic are becoming part of the landfills, oceans and polluting the water bodies and terrestrial land (Rochman et al., 2013). Plastics are persistent in all environments, from the oceans to the highest mountains (Chiba et al., 2018). Plastic production increased the greenhouse gas emissions, 3.8% of global carbon dioxide was produced due the plastic production in 2015 (Zheng & Suh, 2019). Other gases including methane and ethylene also produced during the degradation of plastics (Rover et al., 2018). Plastic in the municipal solid waste is estimated at 79 million tons and in the industrial solid it was estimated at 42 million tons in Asia (Liang et al., 2021). Plastics are divided into seven different knowns as resin codes, Polyethylene terephthalate PET, highdensity polyethylene HDPE, polyvinyl chloride PVC, Low-density polyethylene LDPE, polypropylene PP, polystyrene PS, and other resins are included (Boyle & Örmeci, 2020). Demand of plastics resins in 2019 was PP 19.4%, PE-LD 17.4%, PE-HD 12.4%, PVC 10%, polyurethane PUR 7.9%, PET 7.9%, PS 6.2% and other plastics 18.8% (Plastics Europe -Association of Plastic Manufacturers (Organization), 2020). These plastic resins are the vector for the other contaminant and additives that harm the organisms (Mato et al., 2001). The retention of a plastic litter in the environment is about thousands of years that becomes more harmful by converting into microscopic size plastics and it is estimated that the

7

Chapter 2

normal size plastic is decreasing in the environment however small size plastic is increasing the environment (Barnes et al., 2009). Continuous accumulation, weathering, and fragmentation of plastics led to smaller-sized debris, which has been named MPs (MPs) with size <5 mm (Barnes et al., 2009; de Souza Machado et al., 2019; Rillig, 2012; Thompson et al., 2004). Plastics can be broken down into macro plastics 25 mm to 5cm (Ng et al., 2018), mesoplastics 5–25 mm, MPs 100 nm and 500 mm and nano plastics (NPs) >500 mm (Ng et al., 2018). The size of small MPs is 0.2-2nm and large MPs are 2-5nm (Collignon et al., 2014). Different plastics' origins, morphology, particle size, chemical properties, and persistence could have highly diverse effects under different environmental ecosystems (Wagner et al., 2014). Two main problems are associated with the MPs, the extremely small size that is easily available to the biota and the vector for the other pollutant and microorganisms (Gao et al., 2019; Rillig, 2012).

2.1. Source of MPs

Primary and secondary MPs are a major part of the environment (Cole et al., 2011). Primary MPs are manufactured in microscopic size and are used in the air blasting media (Claessens et al., 2011), pellets, and cosmetics (Napper et al., 2015). The secondary source of the MPs is that plastic which is derived from plastics when they are a breakdown into smaller particles (Roy et al., 2011). The sunlight exposure and the UV light cause the photo degradation of plastic into smaller plastics, the smallest plastic that was detected in the ocean is the 1.6 μ m in the size (Andrady, 2011). Biodegradable plastics are thought to be safe for the environment but can cause the MPs as these plastics decompose into the smaller particles that are released into the water bodies (Roy et al., 2011; Thompson et al., 2004).

8

The MPs are abundant in the sewage water due to the presence of the clothing fibers (Mason et al., 2016), these fibers contain the polyester and the acrylic compound have the same resemblance in composition as those of MPs that were found In the sediments (Browne et al., 2011). These MPs are retained in the form of sludge and used as fertilizer for agricultural land (Nizzetto et al., 2016). It is estimated that 30.7×103 particles kg–1 was detected in the dry sludge. In Pakistan, sewage water without any treatment is used for the irrigation of the crops to meet the need of the water shortage and to avoid the other expensive method to drag the underground water (Murtaza et al., 2010). The PE, PS, and PP MPs have been detected in the canal associated with the Ravi river and the same plastics have been detected from the Rawal lake (Irfan et al., 2020; Irfan et al., 2020).

2.2. Source of MPs in soil

MPs enter the terrestrial environment through various channels such as sewage sludge (Nizzetto et al., 2016; Wei et al., 2019), irrigation with wastewater (Zhang et al., 2018), plastic mulching (Huang et al., 2020), Organic fertilizers (Weithmann et al., 2018) and from the atmospheric environment (Dris et al., 2016).

2.2.1. Plastic Mulching as the source of MPs

Plastic mulching is an important practice in the agricultural sector that enhance crop yield by improving the soil temperature, moisture, and pest attack (Liu et al., 2022). Mostly plastic mulch is made of polyethylene, low-density polyethylene, and high-density polyethylene (Shah & Wu, 2020). In China, about 1.4 million tons of polyethylene plastic films were used in 2018 covering about 15% of the agricultural land (Liu et al., 2020).

Chapter 2

Despite of beneficial aspects of plastic mulching, disposal practices such as ploughing the mulch in a field or disposing into landfills are not environmentally friendly (Fontenot et al., 2021), However high-cost halts removing or recycling the plastics mulch from agricultural land (Brodhagen et al., 2017) as removal of plastics takes time about 42 hours/h (Velandia et al., 2019) and according to one study in South Georgia vegetable industry it cost about 116.24 dollar/ h (Fontenot et al., 2021). Therefore, the continuous addition of plastic residues in agriculture results in the accumulation of a large number of MPs (Rillig et al., 2017). Plastic mulches were the source of MPs that affect the growth of the plant (Qi et al., 2018). MPs increased in the soil by about 80.3 ± 49.3 , 308 ± 138.1 , and 1075.6 ± 346.8 pieces/kg soil in fields with 5, 15, and 24 years respectively where the plastic mulch was continuously used (Huang et al., 2020). MPs concentrations were high in mulched soil about 754 ± 477 items kg-1 as compared to the non-mulched soil were about 376 ± 149 items kg-1 and MPs increase with time in mulched soil. (Zhang et al., 2021). Mostly plastic mulch is formed of polyethylene, low-density polyethylene and highdensity polyethylene (Shah & Wu, 2020).

2.2.2. Wastewater and Sewage sludge as a source of MPs

Wastewater use for agricultural land is a frequent practice, especially in arid areas where fresh water is not sufficient to provide the fields (Muhammad Ashraf, 2017). Untreated wastewaters contain primary and secondary MPs from industrial and household waste that arrive at wastewater treatment plants (Sol, 2022). Microbeads are added to personal care and cosmetics released into the wastewater (Cheung et al., 2013). Moreover, the polyester and acrylic fibers from the synthetic clothing are discharged into the wastewater (Napper

et al., 2015). 4500 to 94000 microbeads released from sole use of exfoliant and 4000 from the toothpaste (Prata, 2018). Despite the water, the waste plant can remove about 90% of the MPs still a large amount of the MPs discharged into the environment (Masiá et al., 2020).

Wastewater transfer a large number of MPs from its source (Domestic, industrial waste) to soil (Collivignarelli et al., 2021). Wastewater management prevents the MPs from entering the aquatic environment by trapping it in the sludge (Milojevic & Cydzik-kwiatkowska, 2021). About 99% of MPs are retained in sludge after wastewater management (Mahon et al., 2017). Even though the removal of MPs from the wastewater is beneficial for the aquatic environment but harmful to the terrestrial ecosystem (Corradini et al., 2019). MPs present in the wastewater treatment plant accumulates into the sludge that is provided to the agricultural land (Li et al., 2018). This sludge is used as fertilizer to enhance soil fertility however when it employs on agricultural land can contribute to the contamination of soil (Corradini et al., 2019). It is estimated that dry sludge contains 4.20-15.4 * 10 3MPs particles/kg (Mahon et al., 2017).

According to Li et al., (2018), about 1.56*10 14 MPs particles enter the soil through sludge. In addition, MPs inhibit the sludge hydrolysis and reduce the microorganisms (Zhang et al., 2020).

2.2.3. Organic fertilizer as a source of MPs

Compost is considered a reliable option to enhance soil fertility, carbon sequestration, crop nutrition, crop yield, and organic matter (Imran et al., 2021). Compost can be formed from manure, plant residues, municipal waste, and sewage sludge (Brock et al., 2021). Usage of

biosolid fertilizers particularly organic waste can act as a vector in soil (Lambert et al., 2019). Industrial and domestic waste contain plastic that converts into MPs physical and mechanically and unfortunately added in the composting process, used as the organic fertilizers in agriculture (Liu et al., 2018). Previously macroplastic gained attention in compost whereas MPs is higher in number as compared to macroplastic (Gui et al., 2021). According to Vithanage et al. (2021), (about $1.23*107 \pm 1.93*108$ item /ha MPs particles are added into the soil through domestic waste compost. Despite many composting stations pre-treating the waste to reduce the plastic debris, still, a large amount of plastic remains in the compost (Gui et al., 2021).

2.2.4. Atmospheric source of MPs

Less attention was paid to the atmospheric deposing of MPs in the environment that can affect chemically and physically the land surfaces (Cai et al., 2017). Atmospheric deposition is another pathway for the MPs to enter the terrestrial environment (Dris et al., 2016).

Source	Site	Shape	Size	Range	Туре	Reference
Rural	China	Fiber,	0.05	2400±358	Polyester,	(Gui et al.,
domestic		films	-5	items/kg	Polypropylene	2021)
waste			mm	dry weight	Polyethylene	
compost						
Farmland	Taiwan	Fiber,	1-3	53.2	Polystyrene,	(Fakour et
soil (Plastic		Film,	mm	items/m2	Polypropylene	al., 2021)
mulch,		Pellet,	,	in 5 cm	,	
biosolid		Foam,	>5	depth	Polyethylene	
fertilizers			mm	34.5		
				item/m2 in		
				20 cm		
				depth		
Plastic	Spain	N/A	>2	2242±984	Polyethylene,	(van
mulch&			mm	Mps/kg&	Polypropylene	Schothorst
Municipal				888±500M		et al.,
organic				P/kg		2021)
waste						
compost						
Atmosphere	China	Fiber,	N/A	212-	Polycarbonat,	(Liu et al.,
		granules		9020mg/kg	Polyurethane,	2019)
					Polypropylene	

Table 1. Various sources of MPs in the soil
Literature Review

2.3. Effect of MPs in soil

Soil provides a multitude of ecosystem services to humans such as food, wood raw material for infrastructures, prevention from flood nutrient cycling, carbon sequestration, and biodiversity (Kopittke et al., 2019). However anthropogenic activities such as industries increase the soil contamination that possess harm to the living creatures (Ye et al., 2018) . Soil that is essential for the terrestrial ecosystem confronted the MP contamination that has a strong impact on the soil function and biodiversity (de Souza Machado et al., 2018). Soil structure can be affected by the contamination of the MPs therefore it is necessary to understand how MPs affect the chemical, physical and biological properties of soil (Liang et al., 2019).

2.3.1. Impact of MPs on Biological properties of soil

2.3.1.1. Microbial communities:

Microorganisms such as mycorrhizal fungi and symbiotic bacteria are responsible for the provision of benefits in the agriculture (Jacoby et al., 2017). 80-90% biological activity depend on the enzymatic activity and species of microorganisms (Furtak & Gajda, 2018). Microorganisms provide numerous soil nutrients, enhance soil fertility (Mengqi et al., 2021), and help in recycling the organic waste (Siles et al., 2021). Therefore, management of soil microorganism plays key role in the sustainable agriculture and food safety (Bertola et al., 2021). However anthropogenic activities have negative effect on soil microbial biodiversity that may have adverse impact on the soil health (Yang et al., 2021)



Figure2: Representation of effect of MPs in soil. MPs effect the soil chemical (soil pH, soil nutrients and, availability of other pollutant), physical (Soil aggregation, soil bulk density and, water holding capacity) and biological properties (microbial communities, enzyme activity and, soil animal)

Literature Review

Recent studies showed that MPs interact the microbial communities and affect their biological activities (Sun et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2019). MPs provide the hydrophobic surface to heterogeneous bacteria, make these particles more favorable substrate for the microbial communities as compared to the other contaminants (Zhang et al., 2019). MPs with distinct size, shape and polymer had separated effect on the bacterial communities, Polyethylene and polypropylene had stronger effect on the bacterial communities as compared to the polystyrene (Sun et al., 2022). Moreover, soil Physiochemical properties such as soil aggregate alter the microbial communities. Film, fiber, and foam MPs negatively affect the bacterial communities because shape of MPs is linked with the soil physical properties (Sun et al., 2022). Huang et al. (2019) also concluded that MPs abundance and depletion is associated with the soil physical properties like soil bulk density, porosity, evaporation, and soil moisture. MPs enriched the various bacterial phyla (Wang et al., 2020), include *Bacteroidetes* have some pathogen bacterial member that can cause hoof rot diseases in the plants and may threaten for the agricultural ecosystem (Zhang et al., 2019).

MPs act differently on different communities of Fungi, *Basidiomycota, Chytridiomycota, Ciliophora* and *Rozellomycota* decreased and *Ascomycota* and *Zygomycota* increased with the polyethylene MPs (Ren et al., 2020). *Ascomycota* increased and *Basidiomycota* increased when inoculated with polyethylene MPs (Hou et al., 2021). Moreover, Polyvinyl chloride, Polyethylene, Polystyrene increased *Ascomycota* and decline of *Basidiomycota*, and *Chytridiomycota*.

16

Microbes	MP Size,	Туре	Effect on microbial	Reference
	shape		communities	
Bacteria	150 μm diameter Foam, Film Fiber	Polystyrene, Polyethylene , polypropylen e	Polystyrene had weaker effect on bacteria as compared to the other two, <i>Patescibateria</i> increased	(Sun et al., 2022)
Bacteria	<100 µm, Particles	Polyethylene	increase the abundance of Actinobacteria, Chloroflexi and Firmicutes and decrease the abundance of Gemmatimonadetes and Bacteroidetes	(Hou et al., 2021)
Bacteria	<5 µm	Polyethylene	AbundanceActinobacteria,Bacteroidetes,Proteobacteria,CyanobacteriaandDeinococcus-Thermus.	(Zhang et al., 2019b)
Bacteria	$2 \text{ mm} \times 2$ mm $\times 0.0$ 1 mm, Fragments	Low density polyethylene	Abundance Acidobacteria, Armatimonadetes, Bacteroidetes, Gemmatimonadetes, and Proteobacteria	(Wang et al., 2022)
Bacteria	2 mm × 2 mm × 0.0 1 mm films	Low density polyethylene	Acidobacteria, Bacteriodietes,Gemmatimonadetes,Nitrospirae,andProteobacteriaweresignificantly enrichedActinobacteriaandSomeNitrospiraeweredepleted	(Huang et al., 2019)
Bacteria	100 μm diameter, particle	Polyvinyl chloride, Polyethylene , Polystyrene	abundance of Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria and decline of Acidobacteria	(Fan et al., 2022b)

Table 2. MPs size, shape and types effect on the bacterial communities

Fungi	MP Size,	Туре	Effect	on	microbial	Reference
	shape		communitie	2S		
Fungi	100 µm	Polyvinyl	Abundance	of Ascor	nycota and	(Fan et al.,
	diameter,	chloride,	decline of	Basidiom	nycota, and	2022b)
	particle	Polyethylene,	Chytridiomy	ycota		
		Polystyrene				
Fungi	$<\!\!13\mu m$ and	Polyethylene	Basidiomyco	ota, Chytr	idiomycota,	(Ren et al.,
<150 μm			Ciliophora a	and <i>Rozell</i>	lomycota	2020)
			decreased		and	
			Ascomycota	and Zygo	mycota	
			increased w	ith the p	olyethylene	
			MPs			
Fungi	<100 µm,	Polyethylene	Ascomycota	increased	and	(Hou et al.,
	Particles		Basidiomyco	ota		2021)

Table 3. MPs size, shape and types effect on the fungal communities

2.3.1.2. Enzymatic activity

Soil enzyme production is essential for energy flow and nutrient cycling (Cui et al., 2021). Soil enzymes play a significant role in soil health, they are associated with soil physical properties, catabolism of soil organic compounds, microbial activities, and the indicator of soil health (Farooq et al., 2021).

MPs can increase the soil enzyme activity depending on the different type of MP and their concentration (Fan et al., 2022). FDAse activities were increased with the addition of polyamide beads, polyacrylic fibers, polyethylene fragments, polyester fiber (de Souza Machado et al., 2018), and polypropylene MPs (Liu et al., 2017). The enzyme activity of urease and catalase was increased with the addition of polyethylene MPs however slight increase occurred in the invertase enzyme (Huang et al., 2019). Catalase enzyme increases in polyvinyl chloride treatment by about 38%, alkaline phosphatase in polyethylene by

about 20.8%, and 63.2% of Urease with the addition of polystyrene MP (Fan et al., 2022).

However, polyethylene MPs reduce the activity of Catalase, Phenol oxidase, Urease, manganese peroxidase, laccase, and β -glucosidase (Yu et al., 2020).

Recent studies showed that MPs can change the soil properties such as soil aggregates which may be associated with the soil enzyme activity (Zhang et al., 2018b). Furthermore Yu et al, (2020), also concluded that different enzymes act differently in soil aggregates.

Table 4. MPs size, shape and types of effect on the soil enzymatic activity

Enzyme	MP size shape	MP type	Effect	Reference
FDAse	<180µm	Polypropylene	28% of PP MPs increased Enzymatic Activity	(Liu et al., 2017)
β-glucosidase				
0 11 11 11	0.03 mm diameter	Polyester fiber	Г	
p-celluliosidase		Polyacrylic	Enzyme Activity	(Liang et
N-acetyl-b-		1 019 401 9 110	decreased in	al., 2021)
glycosaminidase	0.008mm diameter		polyester fiber	
Phosphatase				
Urease,	$2 \text{ mm} \times 2 \text{ mm} \times 0.01 \text{ mm},$	Low density	Enzyme	(Uuona ot
invertase	FIIIIIS	poryeuryrene	increased in	(Huang et al., 2019)
			first two,	, ,
			and did not	
			increased	

Literature Review

2.3.1.3. MP effect on Plants

MPs affect plant growth and plant physiology. In the Vicia faba plant, a significant reduction in growth was observed after 48h exposure to MPs. Plant biomass and catalase enzyme decreased by MP however peroxidase and superoxide dismutase enzyme were increased. MP induces genotoxicity and oxidative damage to V. faba. Toxicity was increased with the decrease in the size of MP. Particles inhibit the nutrient imbibition that causes blockage in the cell wall pores (Jiang et al., 2019). Some studies suggest that translocation and accumulation of MP beads in the wheat plants, 0.2 µm microbeads can easily translocate to stem and leaves through the apoplastic pathway (Li et al., 2019). MPs and NPs can easily penetrate the plant's tissues through the apoplastic pathway and proceed toward the different parts of plants (Li, et al., 2020). The smaller MPs of size 0.2 micrometer translocates efficiently in the wheat, Carrot, and lettuce plants as compared to the larger MPs (Li, et al., 2020). PSMP of sizes 500 and 700 nm was accumulated in the aerial part of the plants like the stem, leaf tissue, calvx tissue, and fruit of the cucumber plant (Li, et al., 2020). The accumulation of large MPs of 1 µm was accumulated in the carrot stems there were no traces in the leaf (Dong et al., 2021).

The component of the MPs can reduce the root tissue density (de Souza Machado et al., 2019). Biodegradable MPs from the mulch have a more negative effect than low-density polyethylene on the root, shoot and fruit biomass in the *Triticum aestivum* (Qi et al., 2018). Different sizes of the MPs on *Lepdium sativum* cause a reduction in the root length of the plants and MP's deposit in the pores of the seed coat of *L. sativum* can slow down the water uptake (Bosker et al., 2019). The component of the MPs reduced the root tissue density in *Allium fistulosum* (de Souza Machado et al., 2019). *The* root diameter of the

Literature Review

cucumber plant decreased with the inoculation of the 300 -500 nm polystyrene plastics (Li, et al., 2020). The biomass of root and leaf in *Daucus carota* carrot decreases with increasing concentration of the polystyrene MPs and Arsenic (Dong et al., 2021b).

The chlorophyll plays a major role in the photosynthesis in absorbing the scattered sunlight and radiation , however in the Lolium perene rye grass MP's affect the chlorophyll a / Chl b ratio (Boots et al., 2019). The MPs inhibit the formation of the chlorophyll in Vicia *faba* the accumulation of MPs can lead to the blockage of the cell connection that affects the transport of mineral through the water and 100 nm fluorescent polystyrene MPs also increase the toxicity and oxidative damage than 5 mm PS-MPs (Jiang et al., 2019). The activity of Rubisco decreases the contamination of the arsenic and PS MPs (Dong et al., 2021). Plant release various antioxidant substances in response to any antibiotic stress (Zhang et al., 2015). Malondialdehyde and proline content increase in the cucumber *Cucumis sativus* when contaminant with the polystyrene MPs (Li, et al., 2020). In another study in Zea mays maize, the coexistence of heavy metals and MPs conclude that these affect the function of the plant and affect the symbiotic relationship of the plants with the arbuscular mycorrhiza (Wang et al., 2020). In community study of plants, the inoculation of the micro fibers increases the efficiency of the allopathic species *Hieracium* and decreases the growth of the *Festuca* Specie, increase in the growth of the *Hieracium* may lead to the reduction in the growth of the *Festuca* species under the drought condition due the allelopathy nature of *Hieracium* (Lozano & Rillig, 2020) as the allelopathic species can reduce the growth and performance about 25 %. MP's particles found in the carrot and apple may be due to the high vascularization and complex root system but it needs more research to find facts (Conti et al., 2020).

21

Plant specie	MP types	MP size	MP Effect	Reference
Viccia Faba	Polystyrene	5µm . 100nm	Genotoxicity, oxidativ stress	(Jiang et al., 2019)
Triticum aestivum	P.S microbeads	0.2 ,2 , 7μm	Uptake by wheat plant	(Li et al., 2019)
Allium cepa	P.S nano particles	50 nm	Genotoxic, cytotoxic, oxidative stress	(Giorgetti et al., 2020)

Table 5. MPs type and size and their effect on plant physiology

2.3.2. Impact of on Physical properties of soil

The main factor that affects the soil properties is the MPS shape that is found in multiple varieties such as fragments, fiber sphere columns, and foam (Wang et al., 2022).

The most abundant MPs regarding shape are the fibers and dye to their linear shape they can affect the soil aggregation (Zhang & Liu, 2018). Soil aggregates stability is the main soil physical property that aids in the prevention of erosion, provides aeration, soil fertility and soil aeration (Liang et al., 2021).Water stable soil aggregates are essential for measuring the soil structures and assessment of the behavior of MPs is necessary that these contaminants interact with the soil aggregates (Zhang & Liu, 2018). MPs Fiber act as binding agents and take part in the soil aggregation (Zheng et al., 2016). According to Zhang and Liu. (2018), 72% of MPs contribute into the soil aggregation 16% with micro aggregate, 56% with macro aggregates and the rest 28% are in a desperate state.

MPs can negatively affect soil aggregation (de Souza Machado et al., 2019a; Lehmann et al., 2019; Lozano & Rillig, 2020). Respective to the shape the MP fiber decreased soil aggregation by about 29%, films by 20%, and 27 % whereas, polymer LPDE foams decreased the 35% polypropylene by 32% and polycarbonate by about 31% (Lozano et al., 2021), Meta-analysis study revealed that MPs hurts the soil aggregation (Li et al., 2022). Moreover, another study revealed that MPs with organic matter like wheat straw and *Plantago* had a negative effect on soil aggregation (Liang et al., 2021).

Shape	Size	Туре	Effect	Reference
Fiber, films, foams, and particles	>5 mm	Polyamide Polyester, polypropylene, polyethylene terephthalate, polyethylene, polyurethane	Negatively affected the new aggregates formation	(Lehmann et al., 2021)
Fiber, Films, foams, fragments	>5 mm	Polypropylene Low density Polyethylene, Polyethylene terephthalate, Polyurethane, Polystyrene	Decreased soil aggregation	(Lozano et al., 2021)
Bead	15-20 μm diameter Length 5000 μm,	Polyamide		
Fiber	diameter 8 µm	Polyester (PES)		
Fragments,	2 mm sphere, Dimension > 800 μm	Polyethylene high density,		

Table 6. MPs size, shape and type and their effect on plant physical properties

	2 mm sphere,		Soil structure	(de Souza
	dimension 647-	Polypropylene	affected by all	Machado et
	754 µm		MPs	al., 2018)
	547-55 um			
	dimension,	Polystyrene,		
	2 mm cylinder			
	22-258 µm 2mm cylinder	Polyethylene terephthalate		
T '1	4.56 . 0.04		D	/ T • • • • •
Fiber	$4.56 \pm 0.94,$ $4.20 \pm 1.37, 4.05$	Polyester 1, Polyester	Decrease water soil	(Liang et al., 2021)
	$\pm 0.1.14$ mm	roryester	aggregation	2021)
	length	Polyacrylic	with the	
			addition of	
			organic mater	
			(Wheat straw and <i>Plantago</i>)	
Microfiber	0.37 to 3.14 mm	Poly acrylic	No significant	(Liang et al.,
	length		effect	2019b)
	$0.026 \pm 0.005 \text{ mm}$ diameter			

2.3.3. Impact of MPs on the soil Chemical properties

Numerous studies indicated that MPs could affect the soil's chemical properties like soil pH (Qi et al., 2020), soil organic matter (Liu et al., 2021), and soil nutrients (Li et al., 2021). In most cases, MPs increased the soil pH. Lozano et al. (2021) found an increase in pH when inoculating the soil with 0.4% w/w MPs. However, some studies revealed low pH or no significant effect on the pH. High-density polyethylene MPs reduced the pH however

Literature Review

the PLA MPs did not show any effect on the pH (Boots et al., 2019). Other factors are also responsible for the alteration of the pH, for example during the photodegradation of the MPs, MPs release additives chemical that alters the pH of the soil (Bandow et al., 2017). Moreover, the MPs change the microbial communities that affect the pH of the soil (Kim & Rillig, 2022). However, more effort and research are required to explore the effect of MPs on the pH of soil

Soil organic matter is substantial for soil health. There is a mixed result about MPs effect on the soil organic matter. Soil organic matter in the presence of MP is more affected in alkaline soil than acidic and increased with the increase of MP concentration (Liu et al., 2021). Soil organic matter increased in the presence of MP because the MPs itself is the carbon source and released carbon in the soil (Lee & Hur, 2020). Plastic decomposing bacteria present in soil promote the degradation of MPs in soil and promote the carbon content (Zhang et al., 2019). However, some studies suggested low SOM in MP inoculated soil (Dong et al., 2021) or a significant effect (Ren et al., 2020).

Soil nutrients in the presence of MPs can be increased, decreased, or have no effect. For example, in the rice field PVC-MPs decreased the available nitrogen and phosphorus by about 13% and 30% respectively (Yan et al., 2021) . PLFA MPs increase the NO3-N and NO2-N under low carbon conditions (Chen et al., 2020). Moreover, in another study, the phosphorus content increased in the plasticized PVC and decreased in the absence of non-plasticizer plastic (Yan et al., 2021). Furthermore, the high dibutyl phthalate content in the PVC was also found to greatly affect the nitrogen attributes of soil Zhu et al. (2022) suggests that plasticizers can play a substantial role in the availability of nutrients. Other

factors can influence the nutrient availability as MP can affect the AMF community that play role in the P availability



Figure 3. MPs effect on soil biological (Soil microbes, soil enzymes, soil animals and plants), chemical (Surface adsorption and soil nutrients), and physical properties (Water holding capacity, soil bulk density and soil aggregates

Literature Review

2.4. Interaction of MP with Heavy metals

Heavy metals are sometimes known as metalloids such as chromium (Cr), cadmium (Cd), Nickle (Ni), Arsenic (As), Copper (Cu) and Mercury (Hg) are part of the soil but when these metals cross permissible limit these can affect the soil properties and plant growth (Alengebawy et al., 2021). Heavy metal is an irreversible and persistent pollutant, therefore, these are the serious threat to the environment (Li et al., 2019). Heavy metals can enter agricultural land through anthropogenic activities (Chen et al., 2015) *such* as mining, application of pesticides and fertilizers, smelting, and combustion of fossil fuels (Li et al., 2019). Soil is contaminated at 5 million sites that cover about 500 million ha of land globally with heavy metals exceeding the permissible limits (Liu et al., 2018). Limited studies have been done on the interaction of MP and heavy metals. (Pinto-Poblete et al., 2022) revealed the Cd concentration in root and soil increased

when inoculated with the MP. The heavy metal distribution also depends on the soil aggregates (Deng et al., 2018), and MPs contamination affects soil aggregation. The ability of MPs to adsorb the heavy metal depends upon the size of MP and small size MPs have a more adsorbing capacity as compared to the larger particles (Gao et al., 2019). Presence of the MP in soil increase the desorption capacity and decreases the desorption capacity which leads to enhancement of the bioavailability of metals (Li et al., 2021). Li et al. (2021) suggested that the adsorption capacity of cadmium on MPs also depend on the functional group of the MP and pH therefore MPs act as the carrier for the heavy metals.

Cadmium and MPs decreased the root and shot biomass and affect the soil enzyme activity (Poblete et al., 2022). Zhu et al. (2021) revealed that MP+ arsenic combined less affected the bacterial community. However, there is scarce information about the interaction of

Literature Review

heavy metals and MPs. More research is needed to explore the interaction between MP and Heavy metals.

2.5. Interaction of MP with Biochar

Biochar produces under low temperature and limited oxygen can increase the soil's organic carbon and contribute to soil carbon sequestration (Wang et al., 2015). Biochar provides a habitat for the microbial communities (Cai et al., 2021; Song et al., 2020; Ye et al., 2017) and increases the gram-positive bacteria (Zhang et al., 2018), gram-negative bacteria, and fungi (Dominchin et al., 2021). Biochar enhances the enzyme activity in the soil (Song et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2015). Assorted studies reported that the application of biochar is useful in the removal of various contaminates (Diao et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2021).

Few studies explore the interaction between biochar and MPs. Li et al. (2022) and Wang et al. (2020) investigate the co-application of biochar and MPs for the remediation of the MPs. A study revealed that biochar can be stuck, trapped, and entangled in the MPs sphere (Wang et al., 2020) . Li et al. (2022) investigated that metal-loaded PVC reduced the bioavailable metal in biochar. Moreover, biochar increased the enzyme activity and bacterial community (Palansooriya et al., 2022; Dissanayake, 2022).

3. MATERIAL AND METHOD

3.1. Soil, Biochar and MPs properties

3.1.1. Soil Properties

The soil used in the experiment was collected from the agricultural research field of MNS University of Agriculture Multan, located at 30.1598° N, 71.4502° E, with an elevation of 178 m above the sea level in the suburbs of city Multan, south of Punjab. The crops in the agricultural field are mostly irrigated from canal water in summer and in winter tube well water from the ground is used to irrigate the fields. Tube well irrigation is quite expensive as it required a continuous supply of electricity, therefore, farmers use sewage water to irrigate crops thinking that sewage water contains the essential nutrients for suitable crop growth. Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.), Cotton, Maize (Zea maize L.), and sometimes mustard or vegetable crops as well were cultivated in the fields. Soil samples were collected from ten, 2 x 5 m plots in a gross plot of 20 x 80 m, at 0-15 cm depth with the help of a shovel. All the samples were mixed thoroughly for further physiochemical analysis. The sample were then air dried, cleaned from stem and roots residues of crops, and sieved through 2mm mesh. The sample was stored at a temperature of $20\pm2^{\circ}$ C in the glasshouse. The soil was weakly structured silt loam with moderately calcareous brown river alluvium and had fluventic haplocambic, hyperthermic, cambic, and orchric subsurface horizons (Miani Soil Series). Soil have electrical conductivity (EC, 5.8 mScm-1) °C, pH (0.01 M CaCl2) of 7.8 and a low amount of organic matter (0.71 %), total nitrogen (1.9 %), phosphorous (CAL-P, 8.4 mg kg-1), potassium (KAL-K, 155 mg kg-1)

3.2.1. Biochar properties

Biochar was produced from the cotton using Kon Tiki flame Curtin Pyrolysis Kiln uses for small-scale production of biochar worldwide. Biochar produces in a kiln at a specific temperature of 650-750°C. The produced biochar was analyzed from Eurofins Umwelt Germany for detailed physical and chemical properties. The particle size and surface morphology of biochar were determined by using Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM, JEOL JSM-6490A, Analytical Scanning Electron Microscope) at 20 kV, X20,000, and X50,000.

Properties	Values	Unit
Hydrogen (H)	0.7	w/w %
Oxygen (O ₂)	0.79	w/w %
Carbon (C)	54.5	w/w %
Nitrogen (N)	0.79	w/w %
Phosphorous (P)	1.8	w/w %
Potassium (K)	10.0	w/w %
Calcium (Ca)	8.1	w/w %
Magnesium (Mg)	3.8	w/w %
Sodium (Na)	1.7	w/w %
Iron (Fe)	4.4	w/w %
Zinc (Zn)	25	g / metric ton
Copper (Cu)	55	g / metric ton
CEC	6.4	$\operatorname{cmol}(+) \operatorname{kg}^{-1}$
pН	9.6	CaCl ₂ method

 Table 7. Elemental composition, chemical characterization, and nutrients content of biochar.

3.3.1. MPs properties

Polyvinyl chloride (PVC-MP) was used in this study as it is an emerging contaminant wastewater that uses in agricultural land for irrigation. PVC-MPs were in a white powder with an average Mw ~ 48,000 purchased from Sigma Aldrich. Morphological analysis of PVC-MPs was done by using Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM, JEOL JSM-6490A,

Analytical Scanning Electron Microscope) at 20 kV, X20,000, and X50,000. The result showed that the particles shape was round and spherical and varied sizes ranging between $<0.5 \ \mu\text{m} - 10 \ \mu\text{m}.$



Figure 4. Size of MPs determined under the SEM

3.2. Experimental Design:

Wheat was chosen for the study because of its economic importance in Pakistan. Two experiments were done under controlled glasshouse conditions at the plant Biotechnology Department, at the National University of Science and Technology. In first study experimental treatments consist of PVC-MPs (i) control, ii) 0.25 % and iii) 0.5 %, (w/w)) and cotton stalk biochar (i) control, ii) 0.5 % (w/w). In Second study experimental treatment comprised of (i) control, ii) Cadmium 600mg, iii) 0.25 % and iv) 0.5 %, (w/w)) and cotton stalk biochar ((i) control, ii) 0.5 % (w/w)) The PVC-MP concentration was

based on the previous studies of Li et al. (2020) and Dong et al. (2021). Biochar concentration was selected from the study by Haider et al. (2015) as the study concluded that biochar at low concentration provides a better crop response.

All the treatments had 6 replicates (n=6, N=18) and two additional repeats. One set of experiments was used for growth treatments and physiology and other sets for the chemical analysis and biodiversity-related molecular analysis. Rhizoboxes for the plants were created from the transparent polyethylene boxes having length = 15.5cm, diameter= 10.5cm and height = 3.5cm. MPs and Biochar were mixed in the soil for about 15 minutes in each treatment. Rhizoboxes were filled with 500g of soil each and incubated for a week. In first experiment treatment received 0.25% (1.25g) and 0.5% (2.5g) PVC-MPs while 0.5% (2.5g) biochar kg-1 of dry soil. Another experiment treatment receives the same concentration of PVC-MP and Biochar along with Cd 600mg kg-1 in soil. Each Rhizobox was watered at 60% of the total water holding capacity. water holding capacity was measured according to the method described by Kammann et al. (2011).

The wheat seeds of the cultivar 'Super' were obtained from National Agriculture Research Centre Islamabad, Pakistan. Seeds were rinsed with distilled water and transferred to glass Petri dishes to germinate for 2 days in darkness at 25±1°C. At complete germination 5 synchronized seeds were selected and shifted into the rhizoboxes. Plants were grown in the glass house under controlled conditions: the 23-24°C temperature at daytime and 16-17 °C at night, 14/10 day/night photoperiod, and 65% relative humidity. After 7 days seedlings were thinned to three plants in each rhizobox. The rhizoboxes position changed after every three days for uniform environmental conditions. Boxes were irrigated regularly according to field capacity. Plants were grown for 22 days from 1st November 2021 to 23rd November 2021 after germination and then harvested.

3.3. Dry Biomass

After harvesting, the steel sieve was used to remove the soil particle from the roots. Forceps were used to remove all the debris from roots. Roots and shoots were separated and dried. The dry weight of the shoot and root were measured by digital balance.

3.4. Antioxidant activity:

0.5g of leaf from each sample was ground in phosphate buffer and centrifuged at 13000rpm. The supernatant was separated into a small tube. For superoxide dismutase (SOD), a reaction solution was formed that contain NBT, Riboflavin, methionine, EDTA, and 0.025ml enzyme. The optical density(OD) value was measured at 560 nm on a 3500 UV-VIS spectrophotometer (Agilent technologies). Peroxidase was measured in the reaction solution of hydrogen peroxide, guaicol, and 0.1ml enzyme. OD value measured at 470nm.

3.5. Measurement of soil enzyme activities

The soil dehydrogenase activity has been used for overall microbial activity (Casida, 1977), and it plays a crucial role in the soil carbon cycle. The dehydrogenase activity was measured by spectrophotometer according to (Kassem Alef, 1995). The soil (5g) was taken in a tube and incubated (for 96 hours at 30 °C) with 5ml TTC (2,3,5 triphenyl tetrazolium chloride) to reduce TTC into TPF (triphenyl formazan). After incubation acetone was added and shaken thoroughly while control tubes only contain Tris buffer

(without TTC). After filtration optical density of the soil, the extract was analyzed at 546 nm after filtration on a 3500 UV-VIS spectrophotometer (Agilent technologies). The dehydrogenase activity (TPF μ g g-1 dry weight of soil) was calculated as TPF (μ g ml-1) x 45/dwt/5 (Kassem Alef, 1995)(Alef, 1995).

To determine the urease activity moist soil collected from the experimental pots was sieved from a 2mm sieve and saved in the polyethylene bag at 4°C. Five-gram soil was taken in the flask and urea solution was added. The solution was incubated at 37 °C for 2h and then added 20ml KCl. After the filtration process ammonium content was measured at the optical density of 690 nm (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988).

3.5. Determination of microbial abundance

Bacterial and fungal abundance were estimated through cultural-independent technique. 0.5-gram soil was from the experimental pots was taken for DNA extraction. DNA extracted by using the Power soil DNA extraction kit (MoBIO). Nanodrop was used for the estimation of DNA concentration (Bustin et al., 2009) (Bustin et al.,2009). Total bacterial and fungal abundance with 16S rRNA and ITS rRNA respectively were assessed by real time PCR. Each reaction for PCR contains (25 μ L), SYBER Green Master Mix (12.5 μ L), DNA (10 ng), each primer (0.2 μ mol) and BSA (0.2 mg/mL). Plasmid of 16S rRNA (bacterial) and ITS rRNA (fungal) target region was utilized for the construction of standard curve (Fierer et al., 2005) (Fierer et al., 2005).

3.6. Phospholipid Fatty Acid (PLFA) Analysis:

Five grams of soil were placed in a 25 ml centrifuge tube and phosphate buffer, methanol, and chloroform were added. Tubes were sonicated for 10 min and rotated for 2 h at room temperature. Then centrifuge at 2500 rpm for 10 minutes, and the liquid phase was transferred into a separate test tube. Chloroform and water were added and left overnight for separation, Organic phase was separated under 20°C. Solid phase extraction chromatography was used to separate lipids in the organic phase. Phospholipids were eluted in 5ml methanol. Phospholipids were stored at 20°C.

Methanol and toluene (1ml of 1:1) and methanolic KOH were used to trans esterify the fatty acids at 37°C for 15 min. Hexane, acetic acid, and H2O were added and vortexed until phase separation. The organic phase was removed and stored at 20 C until further gas chromatography (HP6980- Hewlett Packard; Wilmington, Del.) with FID (Flame Ionization Detector) and the HP3365-Chem-Station and MIDI Sherlock. Single PLFA were allocated to taxonomic groups according to the following pattern: Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF): $16:1\omega5c$; Gram-positive bacteria: 14:0, a14:0, i15:0, a15:0, i16:0, a16:0, i17:0, a17:0; gram-negative bacteria: $16:1\omega7c$, cy17:0, $18:1\omega7c$, cy19:0; *pseudomonas* 16:00, 18:1 w9t Alcohol (Frostegard et al., 1993; Olsson, 2006; Zelles, 1999; Zelles et al., 1992) (Frostegard et al., 1993; Olsson, 2006; Zelles, 1999; Zelles et al., 1992).

3.7. Soil Organic Carbon and total nitrogen:

The soil organic carbon was measured by using the standard wet chemistry technique of soil sample extraction 'rapid dichromate oxidation of organic matter (Nelson, D., Sommers,

1982). Briefly, concentrated sulphuric acid (H_2SO_4) and 1 N K₂Cr₂O₇ (potassium dichromate) were added to a 0.5 g soil for wet digestion. After digestion, the solution was allowed to cool down before halting the reaction. 0.5 N ferrous ammonium sulfate solution was used for titration. For the determination of total nitrogen, soil samples were digested with H2SO4, and followed by distillation by adding sodium hydroxide (NaOH). Nitrogen was analyzed according to the method described by (van Schouwenberg, 1973).

3.9. Microbial Biomass Carbon and Microbial Biomass nitrogen:

5 g of soil was fumigated at 25°C with CHCl3 (ethanol-free chloroform) for 24 hours, and the samples were extracted using 0.5M K2SO4. The same steps were done for the nonfumigated soil. The MBC was calculated after titration according to (Wu et al., 1990) (Wu et al., 1990).

$MBC = (Cabonfumigated - Carbonunfumigated) \times 2.64$

After Kjeldahl digestion, total nitrogen in the sulfated potassium extract was measured. Digestion mixture (FeSO₄ 10: CuSO₄-1: Se-0.1) and concentrated H₂SO₄ (4.5 mL) were added after cooling, and further digestion was carried out for 3 hours. 20 mL water and 25 mL 10 M NaOH were added. 10 M NaOH and 2% H₃BO₃ were used for digestion and then moved into the distillation chamber of Kjeldahl. The distillate was collected and titrated to a bluish-red endpoint in 50 mM sulphuric acid (Brookes et al., 1985) and calculated by the given formula.

$$MBN = (Nitrogen fumigated - Nitrogen unfumigated) \ge 1.4$$

3.10. Cd concentration measurement in plant:

Cd concentration was measured in shoot, root, plant and soil through atomic absorption spectroscopy after completing the acid digestion by the combination of sulfuric acid and nitric acid of the shoot, root, plant and soil.

3.11. Statistical analysis:

Two-way ANOVA was performed for both for investigation interaction of PVC-MPs + Cd and biochar. Difference between the treatment were compared through the Tukey's test at p < 0.05. All the graphs were generated using statistic 8.1 software.

4. RESULTS

4.1. EXPERIMENT-1: EFFECT OF PVC-MP ON PLANT AND SOIL IN BIOCHAR AMENDED SOIL

4.1.1. PVC-MPs and biochar effects on plant growth, dry matter production and antioxidant activity

The PVC-MPs and cotton stalk biochar were used to investigate their effects on wheat growth, dry matter production and plant antioxidant activity (Figure5 - 8). Biochar addition and low dose (0.25%) of PVC-MPs significantly increased shoot dry matter production compared to control treatment and the use of high dose (0.5%) of PVC-MPs (Figure5). The combination of PVC-MPs and biochar showed that the biochar and PVC-MPs addition produced a relatively greater shoot dry weight than the control or high dose (0.5%) of PVC-MPs. However, there was no dose dependent response of PVC-MPs addition on plant dry matter production. The PVC-MPs and biochar addition showed no significant effects on root dry matter production (Figure6). However, overall biochar plus PVC-MPs treatments showed trend of positive biochar effects on wheat growth and dry matter production. There was no significant effect on plant antioxidant activities like superoxide dismutase (SOD) and peroxidase (POD) Figure 7 and 8, respectively.



PVC n.s, B.C **, PVC+BC **

Figure 5. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on plant shoot dry weight. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



PVC n.s , B.C n.s , PVC+BC n.s

Figure 6. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on plant root dry weight. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %



Figure 7. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on plant SOD. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



Figure 8. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on plant POD. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.

42

4.1.2. PVC-MP and Biochar effect on soil organic carbon, total nitrogen, microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen

The PVC-MPs and cotton stalk biochar were used to investigate their effects on soil organic carbon and nitrogen (Figure 9, 10). The addition of PVC-MPs significantly affected total soil nitrogen and organic carbon as compared to controls. PVC-MPs soil has no significant effect on the total nitrogen in both the PVC-MPs concentration. However, soil with PVC-MPs and biochar application increased total nitrogen by +33.96% and +40.77% as compared to PVC-MPs residues treatments without biochar (PVC 0.25%, and 0.5%, respectively) (Figure10). Both the concentration if PVC-MP 0.25% and 0.5% reduced the soil organic carbon. At the same time, the co-application of biochar with PVC-MPs reduced the negative effects of MPs on soil organic carbon. Co-application of PVC-MP and Biochar increased the soil organic carbon about +37.8% and +41% (PVC 0.25%, and 0.5%, respectively) (Figure 9).

Generally, biochar application (alone or with 0.25% and 0.5% PVC-MPs) significantly increased overall MBN compared to control soil without any biochar or increasing PVC-MPs addition While as compared to respective control treatments, PVC-MPs addition (0.25% and 0.5%) reduced MBN when applied alone (-31.76% and -41.64%, respectively) However, it was visible that biochar addition combined with PVC-MPs showed a positive effect and increased the MBN about +32.8% and +41.3% respectively (Figure 12). PVC-MPs 0.25% and 0.5% without biochar reduced the MBC about -12.03% and -16.9%. However, co-application with biochar showed no significant effect but slightly increased the MBC by about +9.54% and +13.6% (Figure 11)



Figure 9. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on SOC. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



Figure 10. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on total nitrogen. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



PVC ***, B.C ***, PVC+BC ***

Figure 11. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on microbial biomass carbon. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



Figure 12. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on microbial biomass nitrogen. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.

4.1.3. PVC-MP and biochar effect on Soil Enzyme Activity:

The PVC-MPs and cotton stalk biochar were used to investigate their effects on soil enzyme activity, Urease and dehydrogenase. The urease activity was significantly reduced by -11.93% and -18.75% due to PVC-MPs addition at 0.25% and 0.5% addition as compared to control (no PVC-MPs addition). However, when biochar was applied (0.5%) in combination with 0.25% and 0.5% PVC-MPs, it showed no negative effects; rather, it increased urease activity compared to only biochar addition in control soil (Figure 13).

Dehydrogenase activity reduced in PVC-MPs by about -5.9% and -9.11% (0.25% and 0.5% respectively) highest concentration cause more reduction than the low concentration of PVC. However, biochar application did not affect significantly to reduce the effect of PVC-MPs but cause slight increase in the dehydrogenase activity as compared to the soil where PVC-MPs inoculated alone (Figure 14).



PVC **, B.C ***, PVC+BC **

Figure 13. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on urease. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.


PVC ***, B.C ***, PVC+BC ***

Figure 14. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on dehydrogenase. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.

4.1.4. Biochar and PVC-MPs effect microbial communities, soil bacterial and fungal gene abundance:

PVC-MP did not affect the abundance of the gram-positive bacteria in PVC-MP soil as compared to the control treatment. However, biochar application with PVC-MPs 0.25% and 0.5% increased the abundance of gram-positive bacteria by +6.76% and +5.86% respectively. Gram-negative bacteria are reduced in the presence of PVC-MPs however biochar application increased the gram-negative bacterial abundance. PVC-MPs (0.25% and 0.5%) decreased the gram-negative -10.09% and -12.97%. Co-application of PVC-MP, and Biochar increased the gram-negative bacteria by about +8.96% and +1.12%. Pseudomonas community drastically reduced -23.31% and -41.24% with inoculation of PVC-MP at 0.25% and 0.5% respectively. Biochar addition and PVC-MP treatment reduced the effect of MPs toxic and increased pseudomonas by about +28.5% and +17.6%in 0.25% and 0.5% PVC-MPs respectively. The PVC-MPs addition (0.25%, and 0.5%) reduced (p < 0.001) AMF community up to -8.39% and -20.16%, respectively over control treatment While the biochar addition (biochar alone, biochar+0.25%, and biochar+0.5% PVC-MPs) significantly enhanced AMF community up to +9.82%, and +7.01%, respectively, over control soil with no MPs or biochar addition (Figure 15-18)

The 16S rRNA gene abundance was reduced by -12.03% and -16.9 due to 0.25% and 0.5% PVC-MPs addition in soil without and with biochar, respectively but a significant improvement was observed with biochar plus increasing PVC-MPs addition (+9.54% and +13.68%, respectively). Total fungal gene abundance was significantly enriched in biochar added PVC-MPs treatments over no biochar with PVC residues. The PVC-MPs residues drastically reduced (-31.6% and -41.67%, with MPs 0.25% and 0.5%, respectively) total

fungal gene abundance compared to the control treatment. Interestingly, biochar addition with 0.25 % and 0.5 % PVC-MPs reduced their toxic effects on fungal gene abundance and increased fungal abundance by about +32.8% and +41.3% (Figure 19, 20).



PVC ***, B.C***, PVC+BC**

Figure 15. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on pseudomonas community. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.

Results



PVC ***, B.C ***, PVC+BC **

Figure 16. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on AMF community. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



PVC n.s, B.C **, PVC+BC n.s

Figure 17. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on G+ve bacteria. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



PVC ***, B.C ***, PVC+BC n.s

Figure 18. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on G-ve Bacteria. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



PVC **, B.C ***, PVC+BC n.s

Figure 19. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on bacterial abundance. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



PVC **, B.C ***, PVC+BC **

Figure 20. Effect of PVC-MP (control = 0, PVC-0.25%, PVC-0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on fungal abundance. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.

Results

4.2. Experiment:2 Effect of contaminants (PVC-MP + Cd) on plant and soil in biochar augmented soil

4.2.1: PVC-MP + Cd and biochar effect on the shoot and root dry biomass

The PVC-MPs + Cd and cotton stalk biochar were used to investigate their effects on wheat growth, shoot dry weight and root dry weight (Figure 21, 22) PVC-MP+Cd significantly affects the shoot dry weight as compared to control. 0.25% PVC-MP+ Cd reduced the biomass by about -68.4% and 0.5% PVC-MPs + Cd reduced the shoot biomass by about -47.3 %. Biochar alone increased the shoot biomass as compared to the Cd and PVC-MP s+ Cd contaminant soil. Co-application with biochar reduced the effect of both contaminants and increase shoot dry mass by about 116.6 % and 50 % in 0.25% and 0.5% PVC-MPs concentration (Figure 21). PVC-MPs + Cd did not affect significantly the root biomass of the plant. However, biochar addition in the PVC-MP+Cd soil reduced the negative effect of these contaminants and increased the root biomass by about + 333.3% and +22.2% in 0.25% and 0.5% PVC-MPs + Cd contaminant soil (Figure 22)



Figure 21. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on shoot dry weight. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 22. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on root dry weight. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.

Results

4.2.2. PVC-MP + Cd and biochar effect on soil enzyme:

The PVC-MPs + Cd and cotton stalk biochar were used to investigate their effects on soil enzyme activity, urease dehydrogenase, acid phosphatase and β glucosidase (Figure 23-26) The addition of the PVC-MP + Cd and biochar significantly affected the soil enzyme activity, Urease, dehydrogenase and β -glucosidase activity decreased in Cd + PVC MP by as compared to control however acid phosphatase activity increased in the PVC-MP + Cd contaminated soil. Biochar addition significantly increases the urease activity as compared to the no biochar treatment by about +11 % and +15.4% (0.25% and 0.5% PVC-MPs respectively) (Figure 23). B- glucosidase activity was reduced in PVC-MP+ Cd contaminated soil however biochar relieved the effect of both contaminants (Figure 24). There was no significant effect in dehydrogenase activity with or without biochar. However, control and only biochar treatment showed enhanced dehydrogenase activity (Figure 25). Acid phosphatase showed the significant result as compared to control. Cd + PVC-MP 0.5% showed the highest activity as compared to control. Treatment without biochar showed more activity as compared to the biochar treatments. PVC-MP + Cd showed different trend in the acid phosphatase activity as compared to the other tested soil enzymes (Figure 26). These results suggested that PVC + Cd reduced the soil enzyme activity except acid phosphatase however biochar reduced the effect of PVC-MP + Cd.



Figure 23. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on urease. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.



Figure 24. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on dehydrogenase. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 25. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on β -glucosidase. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 26. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on acid phosphatase. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.

4.2.3. PVC-MP + Cd biochar effect on MBC and MBN:

The PVC-MPs + Cd and cotton stalk biochar were used to investigate their effects on soil microbial biomass nitrogen and soil microbial biomass carbon (Figure 27, 28) MBN significantly decreased in PVC-MPs + Cd contaminated soil as compared to control about - 53.7% and -29% in 0.25% and 0.5% concentration of PVC-MP + Cd. Biochar application in Cd and PVC-MPs + Cd soil reduce the negative effect of the Cd and PVC- MP and increased the MBN. High concentration of 0.5% PVC-MPs + Cd reduced the MBN more than the low concentration (Figure 27).

In case of Microbial biomass carbon, the result showed opposite trend as compared to the microbial biomass nitrogen. Cd alone reduced the MBC as compared to the control. However, PVC-MPs + Cd contaminated soil elevated the MBC about +128.2% and +164.1%. In soil with Cd and PVC-MPs + Cd, biochar cause further increase in the Microbial biomass carbon suggested that biochar is required to reduce the hazardous effect of Cd and MPs (Figure 28). Results suggested that PVC + Cd reduced the MBN but increased the MBC and biochar co application with the PVC + Cd reduced the effect of contaminants.



Figure 27. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on MBN. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 28. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600 mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on MBC. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05 %.

4.2.4. PVC-MP + Cd effect on the Microbial community

The PVC-MPs + Cd and cotton stalk biochar were used to investigate their effects on Total PLFA, gram -ve bacteria and gram +ve bacteria (Figure 29-31) Total PLFA was significantly reduced in the Cd-contaminated soil as compared to control however significant increases were observed in the soil where Cd+PVC-MP were inoculated without biochar. The highest increase was reported in the biochar treatment alone and biochar +Cd+PVC MP. Biochar reduces the effect of Cd in the Cd + Biochar treatment (Figure 31). The same trend was observed in the G-ve bacteria Cd alone reduce the G-ve bacteria however it increased in Cd+PVC MP by about +26.8% and +32.9% (0.25% and 0.5% PVC-MPs +Cd respectively). Biochar reduced the effect of Cd as compared to the Cd alone treatment. Biochar+Cd+PVC MP showed an elevated number of G- bacteria suggesting that biochar is an essential component to reduce the effect of Cd (Figure 30). G+ve bacteria significantly increased in the Cd and Cd+PVC MP contaminated soil as compared to control soil. However, in presence of biochar increases were observed in all the treatments (Figure 29). The results showed microbial community increased in the presence of the PVC + Cd contaminated soil and Co application of biochar and PVC + Cd further increase the microbial community.



Figure 29. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg , on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on G+ve. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 30. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg , on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on G-ve bacteria. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 31. Effect PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600 mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600 mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on Total PLFA. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.

4.2.5. PVC-MP + Cd effect on root, shoot, plant, and soil Cd concentration

The PVC-MPs + Cd and cotton stalk biochar were used to investigate their effects on Cadmium concentration in the root, shoot, plant, and soil (Figure 32-35). PVC-MP+Cd 0.25% and 0.5% increased Cadmium concentration in the root, shoot, plant, and soil however biochar stuck the cadmium, reduce the concentration in the co-application of biochar and PVC-MP+Cd contaminated soil and PVC-MP+Cd 0.25% and 0.5% increased the cadmium concentration in root about +73.8% and +390.3% respectively. However, biochar co-application with the PVC-MP+Cd reduced the concentration in the root by about -59.6% and -50.3% (Figure 32). Cd concentration increased in the shoot in contaminated soil is about +83.7% and +100.8% however biochar decreased the Cd concentration by about -97.4% and -94.8% (Figure 33). The same trend was observed in soil and plant where PVC-MP+Cd increased the Cd concentration and biochar relieved the effect of MPs and reduce the concentration of Cd -50% and -48.5% in soil and-47.9% and -46.7% in plants (Figure 34,35). These results suggested that PVC-MP+Cd increased the bioavailability in the root, shoot, plant, and soil however co-application of biochar with PVC-MPs + Cd reduce the bioavailability in the root, shoot plant, and soil



Figure 32. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on Root Cd. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 33. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on shoot Cd. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 34. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on total Cd in plant. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.



Figure 35. Effect of PVC-MPs + Cd (control = 0, Cd = 600mg/kg, PVC-0.25% + 600mg/kg, PVC-0.5% + 600mg/kg, on dry weight basis (w/w)) and biochar (control = 0, BC = 0.5%, on dry weight basis (w/w)) on soil Cd. The vertical bars are based on the treatment means, while the error bars are based on standard deviation (n = 3). The bars sharing similar letters are not significantly different from each other at P < 0.05%.

Discussion

5. DISCUSSION

5.1. Experiment no 1: Effect of PVC-MP on Plant and Soil in Biochar Amended Soil

5.1.1. PVC-MPs and biochar effects on the wheat shoot and root dry biomass

The results of dry wheat biomass suggested that co-application of the Biochar with PVC-MPs alleviated the adverse effects of PVC-MPs in the soil system. Our result with PVC-MPs 0.5% showed no meaningful difference compared to the control. However, Zang et al. (2020) and Ren et al, (2021) found contradictory results to our study, but they used different MPs sources like Polyethylene and polystyrene, respectively. Zang et al. (2020) found a reduction in the wheat and root biomass following Polyethylene-MPs addition, while Ren et al, (2021) used Polystyrene beads which caused a reduction in the Chinese cabbage by affecting its photosynthesis and soil microbial activity. MPs can affect plant growth due to direct plastic contamination and plasticizers and cause changes in soil properties, microbial communities, and activity (Gu et al., 2017; R. Qi et al., 2020; Rillig et al., 2019). However, in the present study, PVC-MPs with a low dose of 0,25% caused an increase in the dry shoot mass compared to the control group. Increased growth was also observed in carrot (*Daucus carota*) and spring onion (*Allium fistulosum*) plants (de Souza Machado et al., 2019a; Lozano & Rillig, 2020).

However, our study revealed that PVC-MPs did not affect the root dry biomass. Similar results were observed by Qi et al. (2018), where PVC-MPs did not show any effect on the total wheat biomass production. The reduction in plant biomass can be explained by other factors like alternation in soil chemical and biological properties (Boots et al., 2019;

Leifheit et al., 2021). The Biochar co-application with the PVC-MPs significantly increased shoot biomass compared to control soil or the treatment with a high rate (0.5%, w/w) PVC-MPs addition. Applying Biochar in MPs contaminated soils has been observed to positively affect the soil microbial community in optimum water conditions (Palansooriya et al., 2022). Thus, biochar may help to relieve adverse abiotic stress by modulating the soil properties like the water holding capacity.

5.1.2. Effect of PVC-MPs and Biochar on total nitrogen, soil organic carbon, microbial biomass carbon, and nitrogen

PVC-MPs affected the total nitrogen, soil organic carbon, microbial biomass carbon, and microbial biomass nitrogen. However, co-application with Biochar with PVC-MP had a limiting effect on total soil nitrogen. Biochar induced nitrogen limitation in soil (Haider et al., 2015), whereas Gao et al. (2016) found that biochar increased the soil NO3--N and NH4+-N by +33% and +53%, respectively. The reduction in total nitrogen is due to the toxicity of the MPs. Other studies also suggest that MPs contamination reduces the nitrogen content in soil (Liu et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2021). Nitrogen content decreased by about 63% and 91% in the MPs-contaminated soil (Zhu et al., 2022). Propylene MP and Plastic mulch residues decreased the nitrogen, phosphorus, and organic carbon content (Liu et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2016).

Few previous studies have observed that plastic residues with larger particle sizes (20 mm \times 20 mm debris) in the soil can reduce soil microbial carbon and nitrogen (Wang et al., 2016). MP can reduce the soil organic carbon SOC microbial by inhibiting the growth of the microbial community (Yu et al., 2021). Another study reveals that MPs cause a significant reduction in microbial biomass carbon MBC and nitrogen MBN (Blöcker et al.,

Discussion

2020). Our findings agree with Urbina et al. (2020), who found that bioaccumulation of MPs in the rhizosphere can significantly decline nitrogen content, transpiration, and plant growth. However, biochar addition with PVC-MPs remarkably enhanced these traits compared to PVC-MPs treatment. Notably, the adverse effects of PVC-MPs were still significantly apparent between only biochar addition versus biochar+ PVC-MPs addition. It suggests that biochar's addition to MPs contaminated soils can promote the above traits but cannot completely undo the hazardous effects of PVC-MPs.

5.1.3. Effect of PVC-MPs and biochar on soil enzymes activity

The present study revealed that urease activity and dehydrogenase activity were affected by PVC-MPs residues. Soil enzyme plays a crucial role in the nutrient cycle (Cui et al., 2021). MPs can affect soil physiochemical properties, therefore, can affect the enzyme activities of the soil (de Souza Machado et al., 2019; Du & Wang, 2021; Yu et al., 2020). Recent studies showed that MPs could change the soil properties, such as soil aggregates which may be associated with the soil enzyme activity (Zhang et al., 2018). Furthermore, Yu et al. (2020) also concluded that different enzymes act differently on soil aggregation. The urease activity was increased with the addition of polyethylene MPs; however slight increase occurred in the invertase enzyme (Fan et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2019). In another study, three types of MPs, microsphere polypropylene, membranous Polyethylene, and fibrous polypropylene contamination increased the urease activity in the first two weeks, and then it decreased by 31% to 41% (Yi et al., 2021) . These results indicate that PVC-MP contamination also decreased the dehydrogenase activity however, biochar did not significantly increase the enzymatic activity. Our result contradicts Yi et al. (2021), where dehydrogenase activity increased in all three MPs (microsphere polypropylene, membranous Polyethylene, and fibrous polypropylene.

Biochar addition in PVC-MPs contaminated soil increased the urease activity because the microbial activity decreased in the MP contaminated soil was regulated by the biochar addition and increased the soil urease activity. In another study, biochar increased soil enzyme activity (Dissanayake, 2022). Feng et al. (2022) observed a reduced urease activity in biochar + polyethylene inoculated soil in rice crops but reduced in polyacrylonitrile + biochar. The Urease activity also depends on soil moisture content. A decline in soil moisture of about 10-67% causes a 21% decline in urease enzyme activity (Sardans & Peñuelas, 2005). Biochar addition increases the soil moisture and water holding capacity; therefore, urease activity increases in the biochar amended PVC-MPs soil.

5.1.4. Effect of PVC-MPs and biochar on microbial communities

Microorganisms such as mycorrhizal fungi and symbiotic bacteria are responsible for providing ecosystem services in agriculture (Jacoby et al., 2017). Microorganisms provide numerous soil nutrients, enhance soil fertility (Mengqi et al., 2021), and help in recycling organic waste (Siles et al., 2021). However, anthropogenic activities harm soil microbial diversity that may harm soil health (Yang et al., 2021). Different MPs composition has been reported that affect soil microbiota(Huang et al., 2019). This study showed that microbial communities declined in the presence of the PVC-MPs, suggesting a harmful PVC-MP effect on bacterial and fungal communities.

MPs with distinct sizes and shapes affect bacterial communities differently (Sun et al., 2022). Microbial activity depends upon the soil's physiochemical properties that alter the

Discussion

microbial communities. Microbial abundance or depletion is affected by physical properties like evaporation, soil moisture, porosity, and soil bulk density (Huang et al., 2019). MPs affect all these properties and microbial communities (de Souza Machado et al., 2018). MPs act differently on different communities of Fungi, *Basidiomycota, Chytridiomycota, Ciliophora*, and *Rozellomycota* decreased, and *Ascomycota* and *Zygomycota* increased with the polyethylene MPs (Ren et al., 2020). *Ascomycota* and *Basidiomycota* increased when inoculated with polyethylene MPs (Hou et al., 2021).

Biochar application in PVC-MP soil reduced the contamination of MPs and increased both bacterial and fungal communities. In a recent study, biochar application with polyethylene MPS alleviated the negative effect of MP and stable the microbial communities. Palansooriya et al. (2022) maintained the 60% water holding capacity and suggested that in well-watered conditions, biochar is stable to the microbial communities compared to drought conditions.

5.2. Experiment no 2: Effect of contaminants (PVC-MP+Cd) on plant and soil in biochar augmented soil

5.2.1. Biochar effect on the soil enzyme activity

Soil enzyme activities are an indicator for evaluating heavy metal contamination (Cui et al., 2021). Heavy metals can act as a prosthetic group and enhance enzyme activity by alternating their surface charge (Dong et al., 2021). However, heavy metals can also compete for the enzyme activities, denature the protein, and inhibit the enzyme activity (Zhang et al., 2018). In this study, enzyme activity showed different trends depending upon

Discussion

MP concentration. This study showed a reduction in the urease activity in Cd spiked soil. It has been observed that urease is extremely sensitive to Cd and can be used as an indicator of cadmium-polluted soil (Zheng et al., 2019). After two weeks, urease activity was reduced with MPs inoculation (Yi et al., 2021). However, adding biochar enhanced the urease activity in heavy metal contaminated soil. The increase in urease activity in biochar amended soil is due to labile carbon and other nutrients enhancing microbial activity (Ali et al., 2019). Poblete et al. (2022) found no significant effect of Cd+MP contamination on urease activity. There was no significant effect on dehydrogenase activity; however, the increase of enzyme activity can be seen in the control and biochar alone treatment. The Cd contamination reduces the acid phosphatase activity; however, in this study, the Cd and Cd+PVC-MP enhanced acid phosphatase activity. Our study showed a similar result to (Poblete et al., 2022), which found increased acid phosphatase activity in cadmium and MP-contaminated soil. The highest increase was observed in the Cd+PVC-MP because acid phosphatase activity depends on the soil moisture (Sardans & Peñuelas, 2005), and MPs increases the water holding capacity of the soil (de Souza Machado et al., 2018). MPs increases the diazotrophs abundance that is associated with the production of the acid phosphatase (Fei et al., 2020)

5.2.2. Biochar and Cd+PVC-MPs effect on microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN)

Cadmium contamination can decrease metabolic activity and microbial biomass (Kandeler et al., 2000). Moreover, MPs have also been reported to affect microbial biomass (Huang et al., 2019). In this study, cadmium contamination reduced the microbial biomass carbon. Previous studies showed a similar response that MBC is negatively correlated with

83

Discussion

cadmium (Tang et al., 2022). The soil microbial biomass reduces because microorganisms require more energy in the heavy metal stress, which reduces their reduction (Nwuche & Ugoji, 2008). The MBC was increased in this study, suggesting that carbon sources enhance microbial growth and biomass (Zhou et al., 2021). Biochar application increases the microbial biomass carbon and biomass nitrogen in contaminated soil because biochar can enhance soil moisture and improve soil nutrients and microbial activity(Bashir et al., 2018). Lin et al. (2020) showed no significant effect of MP on the MBC and MBN. However, we found different results of Cd+MP contamination on MBC and MBN in the present study. Biochar reduced the effect of Cd and MP and increased the microbial biomass carbon and microbial biomass nitrogen as compared to

5.2.3. Effects of PVC-MP+Cd and biochar on the microbial community

Soil having a high concentration of Cd contamination decreases the PLFA for gramnegative bacteria; however, for gram-positive bacteria, the indicator PLFA show increase with an increasing level of Cd contamination (Shentu et al., 2008). Gram-positive bacteria increased because, at first addition, Cd inhibits the microbes and then favors the resistant microorganism over time (Kandeler et al., 2000). Previous studies suggest that MPs contamination enhanced the biodegradable plastic degrading bacteria (Sun et al., 2022). The diversity of actinobacteria increased with MPs when 14% PVC was added (Fan et al., 2022). It is speculated that the increase in bacterial communities in PVC-MPs containing treatments might be due to the increase in the plastic degrading group of bacteria and the metal-resistant bacteria, which might use MPs as the source of Carbon (Rillig et al., 2021). Our results align with (Zhu et al., 2021), who found fewer inhibitory effects of MP+arsenic on the bacterial community.

Discussion

5.2.4. Effects of biochar on plant and soil Cd concentration in a PVC-MP+Cd contaminated soil

MP contamination increased the Cd concentration in plants, roots, shoots, and the soil. Our results align with Poblete et al. (2022), where the Cd concentration in roots and soil was increased when inoculated with the MP. The presence of the MP in the soil increases the adsorption and decreases the desorption capacity, which leads to the enhancement of the bioavailability of metals (Liu et al., 2021). The ability of MPs to adsorb the heavy metal depends upon the size of MPs, and small size MPs have more adsorbing capacity as compared to the larger particles (Gao et al., 2019). Liu et al. (2021) suggested that the adsorption capacity of cadmium on MPs also depend on the functional group of the MP and the medium pH; therefore, MPs act as the carrier for the heavy metals. The heavy metal distribution also depends on the soil aggregates (Deng et al., 2018), and MPs contamination has been reported to affect soil aggregation.

Biochar addition relieved the adverse effects of MP on the Cd availability in the study. Alaboudi et al. (2019) also suggested that biochar reduces the bioavailability of Cd by 50, 45, 66, and 77% in control, 200, 400, and 600 mg/kg⁻¹ Cd concentration.
CONCLUSION

Here we investigated the PVC-MPs and Cd contamination effects on wheat growth, physiology, antioxidants, soil enzyme and microbial community, and abundance in the presence or absence of cotton stalk biochar. The PVC-MP contamination showed no adverse effect on plant growth, as indicated by overall dry matter production. Instead, at any application rate, a low dose of MPs addition or biochar plus MPs showed a significant increase in total biomass production. Furthermore, there was no significant effect of PVC-MPs contamination on plant antioxidant activity. The PVC-MP contamination can significantly reduce MBC, MBN, SOC, TN, gram-positive bacteria, gram-negative, Pseudomonas, and AMF. However, the co-application of Biochar in MPs contaminated soils can alleviate the toxic effects of MPs by sustaining microbial and enzyme activity. PVC-MP+Cd synergies the toxic effects on plant growth, dry matter production, soil enzymes, and microbial activity. However, PVC-MP+Cd increased gram-positive bacteria, gram-negative bacteria, and total MBC. Biochar reduces the harmful effects of PVC-MP+Cd but not as much as it can help in the presence of only one pollutant, e.g., PVC-MPs. Co-application of Biochar and PVC-MP+Cd facilitates more increase in grampositive bacteria, gram-negative bacteria, and total MBC. The study suggested that PVC-MP and PVC-MP+Cd are more hazardous to soil biota than plants; however, biochar alleviated the harmful effect of the contaminants.

Here we have investigated the pristine analytical grade PVC MP to develop a basic understanding and background knowledge. However, future studies should also consider using commercial plastics which contain different additives (plasticizers) to give shapes, color, and strength to plastic materials and are actual pollutants of our environments. Future studies should consider the combined effect of plastic polymers with different heavy metals on soil physicochemical properties and nutrient uptake. It would also be essential to investigate the effect of different shapes and concentrations of MPs. In the future, explore more about the effect of MPs on physiological characteristics and growth of the different types of plants.

REFRENCES

- Alaboudi, K. A., Ahmed, B., & Brodie, G. (2019). Effect of biochar on Pb, Cd and Cr availability and maize growth in artificial contaminated soil. Annals of Agricultural Sciences, 64(1), 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aoas.2019.04.002
- Alengebawy, A., Abdelkhalek, S. T., Qureshi, S. R., & Wang, M. Q. (2021). Heavy metals and pesticides toxicity in agricultural soil and plants: Ecological risks and human health implications. Toxics, 9(3), 1–34. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics9030042
- Ali, A., Guo, D., Arockiam Jeyasundar, P. G. S., Li, Y., Xiao, R., Du, J., Li, R., & Zhang, Z. (2019). Application of wood biochar in polluted soils stabilized the toxic metals and enhanced wheat (Triticum aestivum) growth and soil enzymatic activity. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109635
- Andrady, A. L. (2011). MPss in the marine environment. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 62(8), 1596–1605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.05.030
- Awet, T. T., Kohl, Y., Meier, F., Straskraba, S., Grün, A. L., Ruf, T., Jost, C., Drexel, R., Tunc, E., & Emmerling, C. (2018). Effects of polystyrene nanoparticles on the microbiota and functional diversity of enzymes in soil. Environmental Sciences Europe, 30(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-018-0140-6
- Bandow, N., Will, V., Wachtendorf, V., & Simon, F. G. (2017). Contaminant release from aged MPs. Environmental Chemistry, 14(6), 394–405. https://doi.org/10.1071/EN17064
- Barnes, D. K. A., Galgani, F., Thompson, R. C., & Barlaz, M. (2009a). Accumulation and fragmentation of plastic debris in global environments. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 364(1526), 1985–1998. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0205
- Bashir, S., Hussain, Q., Akmal, M., Riaz, M., Hu, H., Ijaz, S. S., Iqbal, M., Abro, S., Mehmood, S., & Ahmad, M. (2018). Sugarcane bagasse-derived biochar reduces the cadmium and chromium bioavailability to mash bean and enhances the microbial activity in contaminated soil. Journal of Soils and Sediments, 18(3), 874–886. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-017-1796-z
- Bertola, M., Ferrarini, A., & Visioli, G. (2021). Improvement of soil microbial diversity through sustainable agricultural practices and its evaluation by -omics approaches: A perspective for the environment, food quality and human safety. Microorganisms, 9(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9071400

- Blöcker, L., Watson, C., & Wichern, F. (2020). Living in the plastic age Different shortterm microbial response to MPss addition to arable soils with contrasting soil organic matter content and farm management legacy. Environmental Pollution, 267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115468
- Boots, B., Russell, C. W., & Green, D. S. (2019). Effects of MPss in Soil Ecosystems: Above and below Ground. Environmental Science and Technology, 53(19), 11496– 11506. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b03304
- Bosker, T., Bouwman, L. J., Brun, N. R., Behrens, P., & Vijver, M. G. (2019). MPss accumulate on pores in seed capsule and delay germination and root growth of the terrestrial vascular plant Lepidium sativum. Chemosphere, 226, 774–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.03.163
- Boyle, K., & Örmeci, B. (2020). MPss and nanoplastics in the freshwater and terrestrial environment: A review. Water (Switzerland), 12(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/w12092633
- Brock, C., Oltmanns, M., Matthes, C., Schmehe, B., Schaaf, H., Burghardt, D., Horst, H., Spieß, H., Monokrousos, N., & Papatheodorou, E. M. (2021). Compost as an Option for Sustainable Crop Production at Low Stocking Rates in Organic Farming Compost as an Option for Sustainable Crop Production at Low Stocking Rates in Organic Farming. Agronomy. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11061078
- Brodhagen, M., Goldberger, J. R., Hayes, D. G., Inglis, D. A., Marsh, T. L., & Miles, C. (2017). Policy considerations for limiting unintended residual plastic in agricultural soils. Environmental Science and Policy, 69, 81–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2016.12.014
- Brookes, P. C., Landman, A., Pruden, G., & Jenkinson, D. S. (1985). Chloroform fumigation and the release of soil nitrogen: A rapid direct extraction method to measure microbial biomass nitrogen in soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 17(6), 837–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(85)90144-0
- Browne, M. A., Crump, P., Niven, S. J., Teuten, E., Tonkin, A., Galloway, T., & Thompson, R. (2011). Accumulation of MPs on shorelines woldwide: Sources and sinks. Environmental Science and Technology, 45(21), 9175–9179. https://doi.org/10.1021/es201811s
- Bustin, S. A., Benes, V., Garson, J. A., Hellemans, J., Huggett, J., Kubista, M., Mueller, R., Nolan, T., Pfaffl, M. W., Shipley, G. L., Vandesompele, J., & Wittwer, C. T. (2009). The MIQE guidelines: Minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clinical Chemistry, 55(4), 611–622. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2008.112797

- Cai, J. F., Fan Jiang, Liu, X. S., Sun, K., Wang, W., Zhang, M. X., Li, H. L., Xu, H. F., Kong, W. J., & Yu, F. H. (2021). Biochar-amended coastal wetland soil enhances growth of Suaeda salsa and alters rhizosphere soil nutrients and microbial communities. Science of the Total Environment, 788, 147707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147707
- Cai, L., Wang, J., Peng, J., Tan, Z., Zhan, Z., Tan, X., & Chen, Q. (2017). Characteristic of MPss in the atmospheric fallout from Dongguan city, China: preliminary research and first evidence. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 24(32), 24928– 24935. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-0116-x
- Casida, L. E. (1977). Microbial Metabolic Activity in Soil as Measured by Dehydrogenase Determinationst. APPLIED AND ENVIRONMENTAL MICROBIOLOGY, 630– 636. https://journals.asm.org/journal/aem
- Chen, H., Teng, Y., Lu, S., Wang, Y., & Wang, J. (2015). Contamination features and health risk of soil heavy metals in China. Science of the Total Environment, 512–513, 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.01.025
- Chen, H., Wang, Y., Sun, X., Peng, Y., & Xiao, L. (2020). Mixing effect of polylactic acid MPs and straw residue on soil property and ecological function. Chemosphere, 243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.125271
- Cheung, M. Y., Liang, S., & Lee, J. (2013). Toxin-producing cyanobacteria in freshwater: A review of the problems, impact on drinking water safety, and efforts for protecting public health. Journal of Microbiology, 51(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-013-2549-3
- Chiba, S., Saito, H., Fletcher, R., Yogi, T., Kayo, M., Miyagi, S., Ogido, M., & Fujikura, K. (2018). Human footprint in the abyss: 30 year records of deep-sea plastic debris. Marine Policy, 96, 204–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2018.03.022
- Chibuike, G. U. and O. S. C. (2014). Heavy Metal Polluted Soils: Effect on Plants and Bioremediation Methods. Applied and Environmental Soil Science.
- Claessens, M., Meester, S. de, Landuyt, L. van, Clerck, K. de, & Janssen, C. R. (2011).
 Occurrence and distribution of MPss in marine sediments along the Belgian coast.
 Marine Pollution Bulletin, 62(10), 2199–2204.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.06.030
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C., & Galloway, T. S. (2011). MPss as contaminants in the marine environment: A review. In Marine Pollution Bulletin (Vol. 62, Issue 12, pp. 2588–2597). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.09.025

- Collignon, A., Hecq, J. H., Galgani, F., Collard, F., & Goffart, A. (2014). Annual variation in neustonic micro- and meso-plastic particles and zooplankton in the Bay of Calvi (Mediterranean-Corsica). Marine Pollution Bulletin, 79(1–2), 293–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.11.023
- Collivignarelli, M. C., Miino, M. C., Caccamo, F. M., & Milanese, C. (2021). sustainability Review MPss in Sewage Sludge: A Known but Underrated Pathway in Wastewater Treatment Plants. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132212591
- Corradini, F., Meza, P., Eguiluz, R., Casado, F., Huerta-Lwanga, E., & Geissen, V. (2019).
 Evidence of MPs accumulation in agricultural soils from sewage sludge disposal.
 Science of the Total Environment, 671, 411–420.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.368
- Cui, Y., Wang, X., Wang, X., Zhang, X., & Fang, L. (2021). Evaluation methods of heavy metal pollution in soils based on enzyme activities: A review. Soil Ecology Letters, 3(3), 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42832-021-0096-0
- Daniel Sol, A. L. A. L. M. D. (2022). Wastewater Treatment Approaches to Remove MPss. In Polluting Textiles.
- de Souza Machado, A. A., Kloas, W., Zarfl, C., Hempel, S., & Rillig, M. C. (2018). MPss as an emerging threat to terrestrial ecosystems. Global Change Biology, 24(4), 1405– 1416. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14020
- de Souza Machado, A. A., Lau, C. W., Kloas, W., Bergmann, J., Bachelier, J. B., Faltin, E., Becker, R., Görlich, A. S., & Rillig, M. C. (2019a). MPss Can Change Soil Properties and Affect Plant Performance. Environmental Science and Technology, 53(10), 6044–6052. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b01339
- Deng, A., Wang, L., Chen, F., Li, Z., Liu, W., & Liu, Y. (2018). Soil aggregate-associated heavy metals subjected to different types of land use in subtropical China. Global Ecology and Conservation, 16, e00465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2018.e00465
- Diao, Z. H., Zhang, W. X., Liang, J. Y., Huang, S. T., Dong, F. X., Yan, L., Qian, W., & Chu, W. (2021). Removal of herbicide atrazine by a novel biochar based iron composite coupling with peroxymonosulfate process from soil: Synergistic effect and mechanism. Chemical Engineering Journal, 409, 127684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.127684
- Dixit, R., Wasiullah, Malaviya, D., Pandiyan, K., Singh, U. B., Sahu, A., Shukla, R., Singh,B. P., Rai, J. P., Sharma, P. K., Lade, H., & Paul, D. (2015). Bioremediation of heavy metals from soil and aquatic environment: An overview of principles and criteria of

fundamental processes. Sustainability (Switzerland), 7(2), 2189–2212. https://doi.org/10.3390/su7022189

- Dominchin, M. F., Verdenelli, R. A., Berger, M. G., Aoki, A., & Meriles, J. M. (2021). Impact of N-fertilization and peanut shell biochar on soil microbial community structure and enzyme activities in a Typic Haplustoll under different management practices. European Journal of Soil Biology, 104(March). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2021.103298
- Dong, Y., Gao, M., Qiu, W., & Song, Z. (2021a). Effect of MPss and arsenic on nutrients and microorganisms in rice rhizosphere soil. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 211, 111899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.111899
- Dris, R., Gasperi, J., Saad, M., Mirande, C., & Tassin, B. (2016). Synthetic fibers in atmospheric fallout: A source of MPss in the environment? Marine Pollution Bulletin, 104(1–2), 290–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.01.006
- Du, H., & Wang, J. (2021). Characterization and environmental impacts of MPss. Gondwana Research, 98, 63–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gr.2021.05.023
- Fakour, H., Lo, S.-L., Thadeo Yoashi, N., Marselian Massao, A., Naboth Lema, N., Bethusile Mkhontfo, F., Chris Jomalema, P., Shabani Jumanne, N., Hubert Mbuya, B., Travor Mtweve, J., & Imani, M. (2021). Quantification and Analysis of MPss in Farmland Soils: Characterization, Sources, and Pathways. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture11040330
- Fan, P., Tan, W., & Yu, H. (2022a). Effects of different concentrations and types of MPss on bacteria and fungi in alkaline soil. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.113045
- Farooq, T. H., Kumar, U., Mo, J., Shakoor, A., Wang, J., Rashid, M. H. U., Tufail, M. A., Chen, X., & Yan, W. (2021). Intercropping of Peanut – Tea Enhances Soil Enzymatic Activity. Plants, 10, 881.
- Fei, Y., Huang, S., Zhang, H., Tong, Y., Wen, D., Xia, X., Wang, H., Luo, Y., & Barceló, D. (2020). Response of soil enzyme activities and bacterial communities to the accumulation of MPss in an acid cropped soil. Science of The Total Environment, 707, 135634. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.135634
- Feng, Y., Han, L., Li, D., Sun, M., Wang, X., Xue, L., Poinern, G., Feng, Y., & Xing, B. (2022). Presence of MPss alone and co-existence with hydrochar unexpectedly mitigate ammonia volatilization from rice paddy soil and affect structure of soil microbiome. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 422(May 2021), 126831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126831

- Fierer, N., Jackson, J. A., Vilgalys, R., & Jackson, R. B. (2005). Assessment of soil microbial community structure by use of taxon-specific quantitative PCR assays. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71(7), 4117–4120. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.7.4117-4120.2005
- Fontenot, K., Kirk-Ballard, H., Coker, C. E. H., Strahan, R., Bacas, I., & Ely, R. M. (2021). Assessing biodegradable mulch duration and nutsedge suppression during late summer cucumber production in Mississippi and Louisiana. Horticulturae, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7090290
- Frostegard, A., Tunlid, A., & Baath, E. (1993). Phospholipid fatty acid composition, biomass, and activity of microbial communities from two soil types experimentally exposed to different heavy metals. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 59(11), 3605–3617. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.59.11.3605-3617.1993
- Furtak, K., & Gajda, A. M. (2018). Activity and Variety of Soil Microorganisms Depending on the Diversity of the Soil Tillage System. In Sustainability of Agroecosystems. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.72966
- Gao, F., Li, J., Sun, C., Zhang, L., Jiang, F., Cao, W., & Zheng, L. (2019). Study on the capability and characteristics of heavy metals enriched on MPss in marine environment. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 144(September 2018), 61–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.04.039
- Gao, S., Hoffman-Krull, K., Bidwell, A. L., & DeLuca, T. H. (2016). Locally produced wood biochar increases nutrient retention and availability in agricultural soils of the San Juan Islands, USA. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 233, 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2016.08.028
- Giorgetti, L., Spanò, C., Muccifora, S., Bottega, S., Barbieri, F., Bellani, L., & Ruffini Castiglione, M. (2020). Exploring the interaction between polystyrene nanoplastics and Allium cepa during germination: Internalization in root cells, induction of toxicity and oxidative stress. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 149, 170–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2020.02.014
- Gu, S., Zheng, H., Xu, Q., Sun, C., Shi, M., Wang, Z., & Li, F. (2017). Comparative toxicity of the plasticizer dibutyl phthalate to two freshwater algae. Aquatic Toxicology, 191, 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUATOX.2017.08.007
- Gui, J., Sun, Y., Wang, J., Chen, X., Zhang, S., & Wu, D. (2021). MPss in composting of rural domestic waste: abundance, characteristics, and release from the surface of macroplastics. Environmental Pollution, 274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.116553

- Haider, G., Koyro, H.-W., Azam, F., Steffens, D., Müller, C., & Kammann, C. (2015). Biochar but not humic acid product amendment affected maize yields via improving plant-soil moisture relations (Vol. 395, Issue 1).
- He-Lambert, L., Shylo, O., English, B. C., Eash, N. S., Zahn, J. A., & Lambert, D. M. (2019). Supply chain and logistic optimization of industrial Spent Microbial Biomass distribution as a soil amendment for field crop production. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 146, 218–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.03.028
- Hossain, A., Skalicky, M., Brestic, M., Maitra, S., Alam, M. A., Syed, M. A., Hossain, J., Sarkar, S., Saha, S., Bhadra, P., Shankar, T., Bhatt, R., Chaki, A. K., Sabagh, A. E. L., & Islam, T. (2021). Consequences and mitigation strategies of abiotic stresses in wheat (Triticum aestivum l.) under the changing climate. Agronomy, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11020241
- Hou, J., Xu, X., Yu, H., Xi, B., & Tan, W. (2021). Comparing the long-term responses of soil microbial structures and diversities to polyethylene MPss in different aggregate fractions. Environment International, 149, 106398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106398
- Huang, Y., Liu, Q., Jia, W., Yan, C., & Wang, J. (2020). Agricultural plastic mulching as a source of MPss in the terrestrial environment. Environmental Pollution, 260, 114096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114096
- Huang, Y., Zhao, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, M., Jia, W., & Qin, X. (2019). LDPE MPs films alter microbial community composition and enzymatic activities in soil. Environmental Pollution, 254, 112983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.112983
- Hussain, D., Asrar, M., Khalid, B., Hafeez, F., Saleem, M., Akhter, M., Ahmed, M., Ali, I., & Hanif, K. (2022). Insect pests of economic importance attacking wheat crop (Triticum aestivum L.) in Punjab, Pakistan. International Journal of Tropical Insect Science, 42(1), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42690-021-00574-9
- Imran, A., Rahman, A., & Al-Tawaha, M. (2021). Carbon Sources Application Increase Wheat Yield and Soil Fertility. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 52(7), 695–703. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2020.1865397
- Irfan, M., Qadir, A., Mumtaz, M., & Rashid Ahmad, S. (n.d.). An unintended challenge of MPs pollution in the urban surface water system of Lahore, Pakistan. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-08114-7
- Irfan, T., Khalid, S., Taneez, M., & Hashmi, M. Z. (2020). Plastic driven pollution in Pakistan: the first evidence of environmental exposure to MPs in sediments and water

of Rawal Lake. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 27(13), 15083–15092. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-07833-1

- Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A., & Kopriva, S. (2017). The role of soil microorganisms in plant mineral nutrition—current knowledge and future directions. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8(September), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01617
- Jiang, X., Chen, H., Liao, Y., Ye, Z., Li, M., & Klobučar, G. (2019). Ecotoxicity and genotoxicity of polystyrene MPss on higher plant Vicia faba. Environmental Pollution, 250, 831–838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.04.055
- Kammann, C. I., Linsel, S., Gößling, J. W., & Koyro, H. W. (2011). Influence of biochar on drought tolerance of Chenopodium quinoa Willd and on soil-plant relations. Plant and Soil, 345(1), 195–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-011-0771-5
- Kandeler, E., & Gerber, H. (1988). Short-term assay of soil urease activity using colorimetric determination of ammonium. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 6(1), 68–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00257924
- Kandeler, E., Tscherko, D., Bruce, K. D., Stemmer, M., Hobbs, P. J., Bardgett, R. D., & Amelung, W. (2000). Structure and function of the soil microbial community in microhabitats of a heavy metal polluted soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 32(5), 390–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740000268
- Kassem Alef, P. N. (1995). Methods in applied soil microbiology and biochemistry. Academic Press.
- Kim, S. W., & Rillig, M. C. (2022). Research trends of MPss in the soil environment: Comprehensive screening of effects. Soil Ecology Letters, 4(2), 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42832-021-0077-3
- Kopittke, P. M., Menzies, N. W., Wang, P., McKenna, B. A., & Lombi, E. (2019). Soil and the intensification of agriculture for global food security. In Environment International (Vol. 132). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105078
- Kumar, G. S., & Krishna, A. G. G. (2015). Studies on the nutraceuticals composition of wheat derived oils wheat bran oil and wheat germ oil. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 52(2), 1145–1151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-013-1119-3
- Lee, Y. K., & Hur, J. (2020). Adsorption of MPs-derived organic matter onto minerals. Water Research, 187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116426

- Lehmann, A., Fitschen, K., & Rillig, M. C. (2019). Abiotic and biotic factors influencing the effect of MPs on soil aggregation. Soil Systems, 3(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems3010021
- Lehmann, A., Leifheit, E. F., Gerdawischke, M., & Rillig, M. C. (2021). MPss have shapeand polymer-dependent effects on soil aggregation and organic matter loss – an experimental and meta-analytical approach. MPss and Nanoplastics, 1(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43591-021-00007-x
- Leifheit, E. F., Lehmann, A., & Rillig, M. C. (2021). Potential Effects of MPs on Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi. Frontiers in Plant Science, 12(February). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.626709
- Li, C., Zhou, K., Qin, W., Tian, C., Qi, M., Yan, X., & Han, W. (2019). A Review on Heavy Metals Contamination in Soil: Effects, Sources, and Remediation Techniques. Soil and Sediment Contamination, 28(4), 380–394. https://doi.org/10.1080/15320383.2019.1592108
- Li, H., Liu, L., Xu, Y., & Zhang, J. (2022). MPs effects on soil system parameters: a metaanalysis study. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 29(8), 11027–11038. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-18034-9
- Li, L., Luo, Y., Li, R., Zhou, Q., Peijnenburg, W. J. G. M., Yin, N., Yang, J., Tu, C., & Zhang, Y. (2020). Effective uptake of submicrometre plastics by crop plants via a crack-entry mode. Nature Sustainability, 3(11), 929–937. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-0567-9
- Li, L., Luo, Y., & Peijnenburg, W. J. G. M. (2020). MethodsX Confocal measurement of MPss uptake by plants. MethodsX, 7, 100750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2019.11.023
- Li, L., Zhou, Q., Yin, N., Tu, C., & Luo, Y. (2019). Uptake and accumulation of MPss in an edible plant. Kexue Tongbao/Chinese Science Bulletin, 64(9), 928–934. https://doi.org/10.1360/N972018-00845
- Li, X., Chen, L., Mei, Q., Dong, B., Dai, X., Ding, G., & Zeng, E. Y. (2018). MPss in sewage sludge from the wastewater treatment plants in China. Water Research, 142, 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.05.034
- Li, X., Jiang, X., Song, Y., & Chang, S. X. (2021). Coexistence of polyethylene MPss and biochar increases ammonium sorption in an aqueous solution. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 405(October), 124260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124260
- Li, X., Yao, S., Wang, Z., Jiang, X., Song, Y., & Chang, S. X. (2022). MPs and Biochar Coexistence Decreases Their Stimulation on Global Warming Potential Resulting

from Soil Greenhouse Gas Emissions. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4056815

- Li, Z., Li, Q., Li, R., Zhou, J., & Wang, G. (2021). The distribution and impact of polystyrene nanoplastics on cucumber plants. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 28(13), 16042–16053. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-11702-2
- Li, Z., Li, R., Li, Q., Zhou, J., & Wang, G. (2020). Physiological response of cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.) leaves to polystyrene nanoplastics pollution. Chemosphere, 255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127041
- Liang, Y., Lehmann, A., Ballhausen, M. B., Muller, L., & Rillig, M. C. (2019). Increasing Temperature and MPs Fibers Jointly Influence Soil Aggregation by Saprobic Fungi. Frontiers in Microbiology, 10(September), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.02018
- Liang, Y., Lehmann, A., Yang, G., Leifheit, E. F., & Rillig, M. C. (2021). Effects of MPs Fibers on Soil Aggregation and Enzyme Activities Are Organic Matter Dependent. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 9(April), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2021.650155
- Lin, D., Yang, G., Dou, P., Qian, S., Zhao, L., Yang, Y., & Fanin, N. (2020). MPss negatively affect soil fauna but stimulate microbial activity: insights from a fieldbased MPs addition experiment. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.1268
- Lithner, D., Larsson, A., & Dave, G. (2011). Environmental and health hazard ranking and assessment of plastic polymers based on chemical composition. Science of the Total Environment, 409(18), 3309–3324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.04.038
- Liu, C., Li, J., Zhang, Y., Wang, L., Deng, J., Gao, Y., Yu, L., Zhang, J., & Sun, H. (2019). Widespread distribution of PET and PC MPss in dust in urban China and their estimated human exposure. Environment International, 128(April), 116–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.04.024
- Liu, H., Yang, X., Liu, G., Liang, C., Xue, S., Chen, H., Ritsema, C. J., & Geissen, V. (2017). Response of soil dissolved organic matter to MPs addition in Chinese loess soil. Chemosphere, 185, 907–917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.07.064
- Liu, L., Li, W., Song, W., & Guo, M. (2018). Remediation techniques for heavy metal-contaminated soils: Principles and applicability. In Science of the Total Environment (Vol. 633, pp. 206–219). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.161

- Liu, L., Zou, G., Zuo, Q., Li, S., Bao, Z., Jin, T., Liu, D., & Du, L. (2022). It is still too early to promote biodegradable mulch film on a large scale: A bibliometric analysis. Environmental Technology and Innovation, 27, 102487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2022.102487
- Liu, M., Lu, S., Song, Y., Lei, L., Hu, J., Lv, W., Zhou, W., Cao, C., Shi, H., Yang, X., & He, D. (2018). MPs and mesoplastic pollution in farmland soils in suburbs of Shanghai, China. Environmental Pollution, 242, 855–862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.051
- Liu, P., Wu, X., Liu, H., Wang, H., Lu, K., & Gao, S. (2020). Desorption of pharmaceuticals from pristine and aged polystyrene MPss under simulated gastrointestinal conditions. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 392(February), 122346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.122346
- Liu, Y., Huang, Q., Hu, W., Qin, J., Zheng, Y., Wang, J., Wang, Q., Xu, Y., Guo, G., Hu, S., & Xu, L. (2021). Effects of plastic mulch film residues on soil-microbe-plant systems under different soil pH conditions. Chemosphere, 267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128901
- Lozano, Y. M., Aguilar-Trigueros, C. A., Onandia, G., Maaß, S., Zhao, T., & Rillig, M. C. (2021). Effects of MPss and drought on soil ecosystem functions and multifunctionality. Journal of Applied Ecology, 58(5), 988–996. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13839
- Lozano, Y. M., & Rillig, M. C. (2020). Effects of MPs Fibers and Drought on Plant Communities. Cite This: Environ. Sci. Technol, 54, 6173. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c01051
- Mahon, A. M., O'Connell, B., Healy, M. G., O'Connor, I., Officer, R., Nash, R., & Morrison, L. (2017). MPss in sewage sludge: Effects of treatment. Environmental Science and Technology, 51(2), 810–818. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b04048
- Masiá, P., Sol, D., Ardura, A., Laca, A., Borrell, Y. J., Dopico, E., Laca, A., Machado-Schiaffino, G., Díaz, M., & Garcia-Vazquez, E. (2020). Bioremediation as a promising strategy for MPss removal in wastewater treatment plants. In Marine Pollution Bulletin (Vol. 156). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111252
- Mason, S. A., Garneau, D., Sutton, R., Chu, Y., Ehmann, K., Barnes, J., Fink, P., Papazissimos, D., & Rogers, D. L. (2016). MPs pollution is widely detected in US municipal wastewater treatment plant effluent. Environmental Pollution, 218, 1045– 1054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.08.056

- Mato, Y., Isobe, T., Takada, H., Kanehiro, H., Ohtake, C., & Kaminuma, T. (2001). Plastic resin pellets as a transport medium for toxic chemicals in the marine environment. Environmental Science and Technology, 35(2), 318–324. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0010498
- Mengqi, Z., Shi, A., Ajmal, M., Ye, L., & Awais, M. (2021). Comprehensive review on agricultural waste utilization and high-temperature fermentation and composting. Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13399-021-01438-5
- Miller, S. A. (2020). Five Misperceptions Surrounding the Environmental Impacts of Single-Use Plastic. Environmental Science and Technology, 54(22), 14143–14151. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c05295
- Milojevic, N., & Cydzik-kwiatkowska, A. (2021). Agricultural use of sewage sludge as a threat of MPs (Mp) spread in the environment and the role of governance. Energies, 14(19). https://doi.org/10.3390/en14196293
- Muhammad Ashraf, M. E. S. S. M. S. A. A. M. A. P. M. S. M. B. A. (2017). Challenges and opportunities for using wastewater in agriculture: a review. JOURNAL OF APPLIED AGRICULTURE AND BIOTECHNOLOGY, 2(2).
- MURTAZA, G., GHAFOOR, A., QADIR, M., OWENS, G., AZIZ, M. A., ZIA, M. H., & SAIFULLAH. (2010). Disposal and Use of Sewage on Agricultural Lands in Pakistan: A Review. Pedosphere, 20(1), 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1002-0160(09)60279-4
- Napper, I. E., Bakir, A., Rowland, S. J., & Thompson, R. C. (2015). Characterisation, quantity and sorptive properties of MPss extracted from cosmetics. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 99(1–2), 178–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.07.029
- Nelson, D., Sommers, L. E. (1982). MatterMethods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbiological Properties. Total Carbon, Organic Carbon, and Organic., 9(9), 539– 579.
- Ng, E. L., Huerta Lwanga, E., Eldridge, S. M., Johnston, P., Hu, H. W., Geissen, V., & Chen, D. (2018). An overview of MPs and nanoplastic pollution in agroecosystems. Science of the Total Environment, 627, 1377–1388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.341
- Nizzetto, L., Futter, M., & Langaas, S. (2016). Are Agricultural Soils Dumps for MPss of Urban Origin? Environmental Science and Technology, 50(20), 10777–10779. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b04140

- Nwuche, C. O., & Ugoji, E. O. (2008). Effects of heavy metal pollution on the soil microbial activity. International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology, 5(3), 409–414. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03326036
- Oliveri Conti, G., Ferrante, M., Banni, M., Favara, C., Nicolosi, I., Cristaldi, A., Fiore, M., & Zuccarello, P. (2020). Micro- and nano-plastics in edible fruit and vegetables. The first diet risks assessment for the general population. Environmental Research, 187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109677
- Olsson, P. A. (2006). Signature fatty acids provide tools for determination of the distribution and interactions of mycorrhizal fungi in soil. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 29(4), 303–310. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.1999.tb00621.x
- Palansooriya, K. N., Sang, M. K., Igalavithana, A. D., Zhang, M., Hou, D., Oleszczuk, P., Sung, J., & Ok, Y. S. (2022). Biochar alters chemical and microbial properties of MPs-contaminated soil. Environmental Research, 209(January), 112807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.112807
- Pavani Dulanja Dissanayake, K. N. P. M. K. S. D. X. O. J. P. S. Y. H. A. D. I. C. G. Y. S. O. (2022). Combined effect of biochar and soil moisture on soil chemical properties and microbial community composition in MPs-contaminated agricultural soil. Soil Use and Management.
- Pinto-Poblete, A., Retamal-Salgado, J., López, M. D., Zapata, N., Sierra-Almeida, A., & Schoebitz, M. (2022). Combined Effect of MPss and Cd Alters the Enzymatic Activity of Soil and the Productivity of Strawberry Plants. Plants, 11(4), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11040536
- Plastics Europe Association of Plastic Manufacturers (Organization). (2020). Plastics –theFacts2020.PlasticEurope,16.https://www.plasticseurope.org/en/resources/market-data
- Prata, J. C. (2018). MPss in wastewater: State of the knowledge on sources, fate and solutions. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 129(1), 262–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.02.046
- Qi, R., Jones, D. L., Li, Z., Liu, Q., & Yan, C. (2020). Behavior of MPss and plastic film residues in the soil environment: A critical review. Science of The Total Environment, 703, 134722. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.134722
- Qi, Y., Yang, X., Pelaez, A. M., Huerta Lwanga, E., Beriot, N., Gertsen, H., Garbeva, P., & Geissen, V. (2018a). Macro- and micro- plastics in soil-plant system: Effects of plastic mulch film residues on wheat (Triticum aestivum) growth. Science of the Total Environment, 645, 1048–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.07.229

- Ren, X., Tang, J., Liu, X., & Liu, Q. (2020). Effects of MPss on greenhouse gas emissions and the microbial community in fertilized soil. Environmental Pollution, 256, 113347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113347
- Ren, X., Tang, J., Wang, L., & Liu, Q. (2021). MPss in soil-plant system: effects of nano/MPss on plant photosynthesis, rhizosphere microbes and soil properties in soil with different residues. Plant and Soil, 462(1–2), 561–576. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-021-04869-1
- Rillig, M. C. (2012). MPs in terrestrial ecosystems and the soil? Environmental Science and Technology, 46(12), 6453–6454. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302011r
- Rillig, M. C. (2018). MPs Disguising As Soil Carbon Storage. Environmental Science and Technology, 52(11), 6079–6080. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02338
- Rillig, M. C., Ingraffia, R., & de Souza Machado, A. A. (2017). MPs incorporation into soil in agroecosystems. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8(October), 8–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01805
- Rillig, M. C., Lehmann, A., Ryo, M., & Bergmann, J. (2019). Shaping up: Toward considering the shape and form of pollutants. Environmental Science and Technology, 53(14), 7925–7926. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b03520
- Rillig, M. C., Leifheit, E., & Lehmann, J. (2021). MPs effects on carbon cycling processes in soils. PLoS Biology, 19(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PBIO.3001130
- Rochman, C. M., Hoh, E., Kurobe, T., & Teh, S. J. (2013). Ingested plastic transfers hazardous chemicals to fish and induces hepatic stress. Scientific Reports, 3, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep03263
- Roy, P. K., Hakkarainen, M., Varma, I. K., & Albertsson, A. C. (2011). Degradable polyethylene: Fantasy or reality. In Environmental Science and Technology (Vol. 45, Issue 10, pp. 4217–4227). https://doi.org/10.1021/es104042f
- Royer, S.-J., Ferró, S., Wilson, S. T., & Karl, D. M. (2018). Production of methane and ethylene from plastic in the environment. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200574
- Sardans, J., & Peñuelas, J. (2005). Drought decreases soil enzyme activity in a Mediterranean Quercus ilex L. forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 37(3), 455– 461. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOILBIO.2004.08.004

- Shah, F., & Wu, W. (2020). Use of plastic mulch in agriculture and strategies to mitigate the associated environmental concerns. In Advances in Agronomy (Vol. 164, pp. 231– 287). Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2020.06.005
- Shentu, J. L., He, Z. L., Yang, X. E., & Li, T. Q. (2008). Microbial activity and community diversity in a variable charge soil as affected by cadmium exposure levels and time. Journal of Zhejiang University: Science B, 9(3), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1631/jzus.B0710630
- Shivaraj, S. M., Vats, S., Bhat, J. A., Dhakte, P., Goyal, V., Khatri, P., Kumawat, S., Singh, A., Prasad, M., Sonah, H., Sharma, T. R., & Deshmukh, R. (2020). Nitric oxide and hydrogen sulfide crosstalk during heavy metal stress in plants. Physiologia Plantarum, 168, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.13028
- Siles, J. A., García-Sánchez, M., & Gómez-Brandón, M. (2021). Special issue "microorganisms in recycling and valorization of organic waste for sustainable soil health and management." Microorganisms, 9(8), 3–5. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9081682
- Singh, S., Parihar, P., Singh, R., Singh, V. P., & Prasad, S. M. (2016). Heavy metal tolerance in plants: Role of transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics, and ionomics. In Frontiers in Plant Science (Vol. 6, Issue FEB2016). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.01143
- Song, D., Chen, L., Zhang, S., Zheng, Q., Ullah, S., Zhou, W., & Wang, X. (2020). Combined biochar and nitrogen fertilizer change soil enzyme and microbial activities in a 2-year field trial. European Journal of Soil Biology, 99(February), 103212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2020.103212
- Sun, Y., Duan, C., Cao, N., Li, X., Li, X., Chen, Y., Huang, Y., & Wang, J. (2022). Effects of MPss on soil microbiome: The impacts of polymer type, shape, and concentration. Science of the Total Environment, 806, 150516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150516
- Tang, B., Xu, H., Song, F., Ge, H., & Yue, S. (2022). Effects of heavy metals on microorganisms and enzymes in soils of lead–zinc tailing ponds. Environmental Research, 207(September 2021), 112174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112174
- Terry, Norman., & Banuelos, G. S. (2000). Phytoremediation of contaminated soil and water. Lewis Publishers.

- Thompson, R. C., Olson, Y., Mitchell, R. P., Davis, A., Rowland, S. J., John, A. W. G., McGonigle, D., & Russell, A. E. (2004). Lost at Sea: Where Is All the Plastic? Science, 304(5672), 838. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1094559
- Urbina, M. A., Correa, F., Aburto, F., & Ferrio, J. P. (2020). Adsorption of polyethylene microbeads and physiological effects on hydroponic maize. Science of The Total Environment, 741, 140216. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.140216
- van Schothorst, B., Beriot, N., Lwanga, E. H., Geissen, V., & Alvarenga, P. (2021). Sources of Light Density MPs Related to Two Agricultural Practices: The Use of Compost and Plastic Mulch. https://doi.org/10.3390/environments8040036
- van Schouwenberg JCH, W. I. (1973). Methods of analysis for plant material. Agriculture University Wageningen.
- Velandia, M., Smith, A., Wszelaki, A., & Marsh, T. (n.d.). The Economics of Adopting Biodegradable Plastic Mulch Films. https://ag.tennessee.edu/biodegradablemulch/Pages/biomulchprojects.aspx.
- Vithanage, M., Ramanayaka, S., Hasinthara, S., & Navaratne, A. (2021). Compost as a carrier for MPss and plastic-bound toxic metals into agroecosystems. In Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health (Vol. 24). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2021.100297
- Wagner, M., Scherer, C., Alvarez-Muñoz, D., Brennholt, N., Bourrain, X., Buchinger, S., Fries, E., Grosbois, C., Klasmeier, J., Marti, T., Rodriguez-Mozaz, S., Urbatzka, R., Vethaak, A. D., Winther-Nielsen, M., & Reifferscheid, G. (2014). MPss in freshwater ecosystems: what we know and what we need to know. Environmental Sciences Europe, 26(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-014-0012-7
- Wan, Y., Wu, C., Xue, Q., & Hui, X. (2019). Effects of plastic contamination on water evaporation and desiccation cracking in soil. Science of the Total Environment, 654, 576–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.123
- Wang, F., Wang, Q., Adams, C. A., Sun, Y., & Zhang, S. (2022). Effects of MPss on soil properties: Current knowledge and future perspectives. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 424(PC), 127531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.127531
- Wang, F., Zhang, X., Zhang, S., Zhang, S., & Sun, Y. (2020). Interactions of MPss and cadmium on plant growth and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in an agricultural soil. Chemosphere, 254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126791

- Wang, J., Huang, M., Wang, Q., Sun, Y., Zhao, Y., & Huang, Y. (2020). LDPE MPss significantly alter the temporal turnover of soil microbial communities. Science of the Total Environment, 726, 138682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138682
- Wang, J., Lv, S., Zhang, M., Chen, G., Zhu, T., Zhang, S., Teng, Y., Christie, P., & Luo, Y. (2016). Effects of plastic film residues on occurrence of phthalates and microbial activity in soils. Chemosphere, 151, 171–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.02.076
- Wang, X., Song, D., Liang, G., Zhang, Q., Ai, C., & Zhou, W. (2015). Maize biochar addition rate influences soil enzyme activity and microbial community composition in a fluvo-aquic soil. Applied Soil Ecology, 96, 265–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.08.018
- Wang, Z., Sedighi, M., & Lea-Langton, A. (2020). Filtration of MPs spheres by biochar: removal efficiency and immobilisation mechanisms. Water Research, 184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116165
- Wei, W., Huang, Q. S., Sun, J., Wang, J. Y., Wu, S. L., & Ni, B. J. (2019). Polyvinyl Chloride MPss Affect Methane Production from the Anaerobic Digestion of Waste Activated Sludge through Leaching Toxic Bisphenol-A. Environmental Science and Technology, 53(5), 2509–2517. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b07069
- Weithmann, N., Möller, J. N., Löder, M. G. J., Piehl, S., Laforsch, C., & Freitag, R. (2018). Organic fertilizer as a vehicle for the entry of MPs into the environment. Science Advances, 4(4), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aap8060
- Wu, J., Joergensen, R. G., Pommerening, B., Chaussod, R., & Brookes, P. C. (1990). Measurement of soil microbial biomass C by fumigation-extraction—an automated procedure. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 22(8), 1167–1169. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(90)90046-3
- Yan, Y., Chen, Z., Zhu, F., Zhu, C., Wang, C., & Gu, C. (2021). Correction to: Effect of Polyvinyl Chloride MPss on Bacterial Community and Nutrient Status in Two Agricultural Soils (Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, (2020), 10.1007/s00128-020-02900-2). Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 106(2), 236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-020-02963-1
- Yang, Y., Ye, S., Zhang, C., Zeng, G., Tan, X., Song, B., Zhang, P., Yang, H., Li, M., & Chen, Q. (2021). Application of biochar for the remediation of polluted sediments. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 404, 124052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124052

- Ye, C., Chen, D., Steven, †, Hall, J., Pan, S., Yan, X., Bai, T., Guo, H., Zhang, Y., Bai, Y., & Hu, S. (2018). Reconciling multiple impacts of nitrogen enrichment on soil carbon: plant, microbial and geochemical controls. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13083
- Ye, J., Joseph, S. D., Ji, M., Nielsen, S., Mitchell, D. R. G., Donne, S., Horvat, J., Wang, J., Munroe, P., & Thomas, T. (2017). Chemolithotrophic processes in the bacterial communities on the surface of mineral-enriched biochars. ISME Journal, 11(5), 1087– 1101. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.187
- Yi, M., Zhou, S., Zhang, L., & Ding, S. (2021). The effects of three different MPss on enzyme activities and microbial communities in soil. Water Environment Research, 93(1), 24–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/wer.1327
- Yu, H., Fan, P., Hou, J., Dang, Q., Cui, D., Xi, B., & Tan, W. (2020). Inhibitory effect of MPss on soil extracellular enzymatic activities by changing soil properties and direct adsorption: An investigation at the aggregate-fraction level. Environmental Pollution, 267, 115544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115544
- Yu, H., Zhang, Z., Zhang, Y., Song, Q., Fan, P., Xi, B., & Tan, W. (2021). Effects of MPss on soil organic carbon and greenhouse gas emissions in the context of straw incorporation: A comparison with different types of soil. Environmental Pollution, 288(May), 117733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117733
- Zang, H., Zhou, J., Marshall, M. R., Chadwick, D. R., Wen, Y., & Jones, D. L. (2020).
 MPss in the agroecosystem: Are they an emerging threat to the plant-soil system? Soil
 Biology and Biochemistry, 148(January), 107926.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2020.107926
- Zelles, L. (1999). Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterisation of microbial communities in soil: a review. In Biol Fertil Soils (Vol. 29). Springer-Verlag.
- Zelles, L., Bai, Q. Y., Beck, T., & Beese, F. (1992). Signature fatty acids in phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides as indicators of microbial biomass and community structure in agricultural soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 24(4), 317–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(92)90191-Y
- Zhang, G. S., & Liu, Y. F. (2018). The distribution of MPss in soil aggregate fractions in southwestern China. Science of the Total Environment, 642, 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.004
- Zhang, J., Wang, L., Trasande, L., & Kannan, K. (2021). Occurrence of Polyethylene Terephthalate and Polycarbonate MPss in Infant and Adult Feces. Environmental Science & Technology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.1c00559

- Zhang, L., Jing, Y., Xiang, Y., Zhang, R., & Lu, H. (2018). Responses of soil microbial community structure changes and activities to biochar addition: A meta-analysis.
 Science of the Total Environment, 643, 926–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.231
- Zhang, M., Zhao, Y., Qin, X., Jia, W., Chai, L., Huang, M., & Huang, Y. (2019). MPss from mulching film is a distinct habitat for bacteria in farmland soil. Science of the Total Environment, 688, 470–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.108
- Zhang, X., Li, M., Yang, H., Li, X., & Cui, Z. (2018). Physiological responses of Suaeda glauca and Arabidopsis thaliana in phytoremediation of heavy metals. Journal of Environmental Management, 223, 132–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.06.025
- Zhang, X., Li, Y., Ouyang, D., Lei, J., Tan, Q., Xie, L., Li, Z., Liu, T., Xiao, Y., Farooq, T. H., Wu, X., Chen, L., & Yan, W. (2021). Systematical review of interactions between MPss and microorganisms in the soil environment. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 418(May), 126288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126288
- Zhang, Y., Du, N., Wang, L., Zhang, H., Zhao, J., Sun, G., & Wang, P. (2015). Physical and chemical indices of cucumber seedling leaves under dibutyl phthalate stress. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 22(5), 3477–3488. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3524-1
- Zhang, Z., & Chen, Y. (2020). Effects of MPss on wastewater and sewage sludge treatment and their removal: A review. In Chemical Engineering Journal (Vol. 382). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.122955
- Zheng, J., & Suh, S. (2019). Strategies to reduce the global carbon footprint of plastics. In Nature Climate Change (Vol. 9, Issue 5, pp. 374–378). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0459-z
- Zheng, L., Li, Y., Shang, W., Dong, X., Tang, Q., & Cheng, H. (2019). The inhibitory effect of cadmium and/or mercury on soil enzyme activity, basal respiration, and microbial community structure in coal mine–affected agricultural soil. Annals of Microbiology, 69(8), 849–859. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-019-01478-3
- Zheng, W., Morris, E. K., Lehmann, A., & Rillig, M. C. (2016). Interplay of soil water repellency, soil aggregation and organic carbon. A meta-analysis. Geoderma, 283, 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2016.07.025
- Zhou, J., Gui, H., Banfield, C. C., Wen, Y., Zang, H., Dippold, M. A., Charlton, A., & Jones, D. L. (2021). The microplastisphere: Biodegradable MPss addition alters soil

microbial community structure and function. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 156(October 2020), 108211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2021.108211

- Zhu, D., Li, G., Wang, H. T., & Duan, G. L. (2021). Effects of nano- or MPs exposure combined with arsenic on soil bacterial, fungal, and protistan communities. Chemosphere, 281(February), 130998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130998
- Zhu, F., Yan, Y., Doyle, E., Zhu, C., Jin, X., Chen, Z., Wang, C., He, H., Zhou, D., & Gu, C. (2022). MPss altered soil microbiome and nitrogen cycling: The role of phthalate plasticizer. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 427(October 2021), 127944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.127944

turnitin Digital Receipt

This receipt acknowledges that Turnitin received your paper. Below you will find the receipt information regarding your submission.

The first page of your submissions is displayed below.

Submission author:	Attia Rubab Khalid
Assignment title:	Algal Mediated Nanoparticles
Submission title:	Microplastics and cadmium effect on plant physiology and s
File name:	Abstract.docx
File size:	1.97M
Page count:	93
Word count:	15,721
Character count:	82,373
Submission date:	04-Sep-2022 12:01PM (UTC-0700)
Submission ID:	1892425032

Abstract

or minuter materials. MPs pa of PVC-MPs (05, 0.25%, and 0.5% et 168 rRNA, 185 rRNA and PLFA 1 of 0.25% increa od bocterial and fungal abe biochar with PVC-MPs reduced the adverse effects of the MPs and increased Ure

Dr. Ghulandia

Copyright 2022 Turnitin. All rights reserved.

Part	TYREPORT
(ILAF)% 4% 8% 3% INTERNET SOURCES PUBLICATIONS STUDENT PAPERS
IARY	SOURCES
1	Submitted to Higher Education Commission 2% Pakistan Student Paper
	"Handbook of Microplastics in the Environment", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2022 Publication
	Fayuan Wang, Quanlong Wang, Catharine A. Adams, Yuhuan Sun, Shuwu Zhang. "Effects of microplastics on soil properties: Current knowledge and future perspectives", Journal of Hazardous Materials, 2022 Publication
	Oluchi Mbachu, Graham Jenkins, Prasad Kaparaju, Chris Pratt. "The rise of artificial soil carbon inputs: Reviewing microplastic